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Chairman’s Statement

ERHRE

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of Grandtop
International Holdings Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased
to report the annual results of the Company together with its
subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 31
March 2008.

PERFORMANCE

For the financial year ended 31 March 2008, the Group
recorded a turnover of approximately HK$20,595,000 (2007:
HK$42,813,000), representing a decrease of 52% compared
to the last corresponding period. The Group’s loss attributable
to shareholders was approximately HK$152,133,000 (2007:
HK$11,050,000), loss per share was 22.47 cents (2007: 2.69
cents).

REVIEW AND LOOKING FORWARD

Our Company endeavors formulating business plans to expand
revenue by entering trading of high profit margin apparel
products into the Group. The Group is constantly exploring new
business opportunities in order to achieve better returns for our
shareholders and will continue to seek merger and acquisition
opportunities so as to enhance the shareholders’ value.

APPRECIATION

On the behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity
to express my gratitude to our customers for their continued
trust and support. | would also like to express our appreciation
to the management and staff members for their hard work and
significant contribution to the Group in the past year. Finally,
| would like to thank our shareholders for their support to the
Company.

Mr. Yeung Ka Sing, Carson
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 July 2008
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Management Discussion and Analysis

THREFWES W

RESULTS

For the year ended 31 March 2008, the Group recorded a
consolidated turnover of approximately HK$20.6 million,
representing a decrease of 51.9% compared to the turnover of
approximately HK$42.8 million in the last financial year. Such
decrease was mainly due to a change in the Group’s focus
from apparel sourcing and apparel trading businesses in Hong
Kong, Macau and PRC to sportswear & apparel trading business
in the United Kingdom. Such change was to minimise further
loss attributable to the apparel sourcing and apparel trading
businesses in Hong Kong, Macau and PRC.

The Group’s turnover for the year under review was mainly derived
from Macau and the United Kingdom market and accounted for
73.3% and 26.7% respectively.

During the year under review, the gross profit margin of the
Group was 14.7% while it was 14.5% in the last financial year. The
slightly increase in the gross profit margin was mainly due to high
gross profit margin in sportswear & apparel trading business in
the United Kingdom.

The loss of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2008
substantially increased by 1,270% to approximately HK$152.1
million from the loss for the year of approximately HK$11.1 million
in the last financial year. Such loss of the Group is mainly due to a
very significant impairment loss on the investment in Birmingham
City Plc. Details in this impairment loss are set out in Note 20 to
the financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS

The Company engages in investment holdings. The principal
activities of the subsidiaries are engaged in provision of apparel
sourcing and sportswear & apparel trading. During the year
under review, the Group focused on sportswear & apparel trading
business, because of better profit margin and lower costs in this
business. However, the Group decided to minimise the apparel
sourcing and apparel trading businesses in Hong Kong, Macau
and PRC to avoid further loss attributable to these businesses in
the high competitive markets.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

THREFWES W

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS
(Continued)
Although the Group’s apparel sourcing and apparel trading
businesses in Hong Kong, Macau and PRC, faced a
comprehensive challenge from the competitors, the Group
will endeavor to take every step to overcome the challenge
by restructuring the cost structure as well as formulating new
business plans to expand revenue by entering into trading of high
profit margin apparel products. The Group will continue to explore
and identify investment opportunities to add into the Group’s
investments in order to enhance the shareholders’ value by its
organic growth.

DIVIDEND

The directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the year ended 31 March 2008 (2007: Nil).

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL
RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2008, the cash and bank balances of the Group

were approximately HK$7.1 million, representing an increase of

4.4% compared to the cash and bank balances of approximately

HK$6.8 million as at the last financial year end.

The current ratio of the Group as at 31 March 2008 was 24.6%
(2007: 79.3%) and the ratio of total liabilities to total assets of the
Group as at 31 March 2008 was 91.4% (2007: 100.2%).

CAPITAL RAISING

On 23 April 2007, the Company entered into the underwriting
agreement to raise approximately HK$37 million, after expenses,
by issuing 192,000,000 offer shares at a price of HK$0.20
per offer share for every two shares held. The open offer was
completed on 7 June 2007.

On 20 June 2007, the Company entered into the placing
agreement to raise approximately HK$65 million, after expenses,
by issuing 115,200,000 placing shares at a price of HK$0.57
each. The placing was completed on 11 July 2007.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

THREFWES W

CAPITAL RAISING (continued)

On 30 October 2007, the Company entered into the placing and
subscription agreement to raise approximately HK$52 million,
after expenses, by issuing 69,120,000 shares at a price of
HK$0.80 per share. The placing and subscription was completed
on 13 November 2007.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during
the year are set out in Note 27 to the financial statements.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through its
investment in quoted equity securities in Birmingham City Plc.
with a carrying value of approximately HK$134.4 million (2007:
HK$ Nil) as at 31 March 2008 that are denominated in Pound
Sterling (“£”), which was acquired during the current year.

PLEDGE OF GROUP’S ASSET

As at 31 March 2008, the property of Sun Tai Hing Garment
Making Company Limited (“Sun Tai Hing”), a subsidiary of the
Company, was charged by the plaintiff for the claim in a writ on
11 September 2007. Save as the above, the Group did not have
assets charged nor pledged to secure any outstanding borrowing
(2007: Nil).

HUMAN RESOURCE

The Group employs approximately 50 employees and their
remuneration packages are generally structured by reference to
market terms and individual merit. Salaries are normally review
on an annual basis based on performance appraisals and other
relevant factors.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Details of contingent liabilities are set out in Note 31 to the
financial statements.

SIGNIFICANT POST BALANCE SHEET
EVENT

The Company entered into subscription agreement dated 7 May
2008 and supplemental agreement dated 4 June 2008 with Pacific
Capital Investment Management Limited to issue convertible
notes by the Company for an aggregate principal amount of
HK$200,000,000 which was approved as an ordinary resolution
passed at the extraordinary general meeting of the Company on 7
July 2008.
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Biographical Details of Directors

EFRE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yeung Ka Sing, Carson, aged 48, has accumulated
many years of experience in international investments. He has
been the Chairman of Hong Kong Rangers Football Club during
2005 to 2006. Mr. Yeung is a director of Universal Management
Consultancy Limited and Universal Energy Resources Holdings
Limited. He was appointed as an executive director and the
Chairman of the Board of the Company on 20 July 2007.

Mr. Hui Ho Luek, Vico, aged 42, has accumulated over 20
years of experience in management of business trade and project
investments. He was appointed as an executive director on 20
June 2007.

Mr. Steven McManaman, aged 36, has accumulated over
15 years of experience in football industry. He is a former English
footballer of the 1990s and early 2000s, who played in a career
spanning two of European Football's biggest club in Liverpool
F.C. and Real Madrid F.C. Mr. McManaman has substantial
experience in the management of football club and its continuing
development. He was appointed as an executive director on 2
July 2007.

Mr. Fan Zhi Yi, aged 38, has accumulated over 20 years of
experience in professional football, and was a member of Chinese
National Football Team (the “National Team”). He was appointed
as the captain of the National Team in 1996, and was awarded
Mr. Football of Asia in 2002. He played in Crystal Palace Football
Club in England, and became the first Chinese player who joined
a professional football club in England. Mr. Fan has substantial
experience in the management of football club and its continuing
development, and can help promotion in the PRC market. He was
appointed as an executive director on 5 November 2007.
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Biographical Details of Directors

EFRE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Continued)

Mr. Lee Yiu Tung, aged 45, is a registered architect in Hong
Kong with extensive working experiences related to PRC property
development, project management and development consultant
services. Mr. Lee is a member of Royal Institute of British
Architects and Hong Kong Institute of Architects. He holds a
Bachelor of Arts in Architectural Studies with Honors, a Bachelor
of Architecture and a Master of Science degree in Real Estate all
from the University of Hong Kong. He also holds a qualification
of Real Estate Planner recognized by the Ministry of Labor and
Social Security, PRC. He was appointed as an executive director
on 13 June 2006.

Mr. Ip Wing Lun, aged 40, is a Certified Public Accountant
(Practising) in Hong Kong. Mr. Ip is currently an independent non-
executive director of China Energy Development Holdings Limited
(stock code 228) which is listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Mr. Ip holds a Master degree
of Business Administration and is a fellow member of Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, an associate member
of the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrator, the
Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and the Taxation
Institute of Hong Kong. He has over 15 years of experience in
auditing, taxation and provision of financial consultancy services
of companies in Hong Kong and the PRC. He was re-designated
as an executive director on 17 July 2007. On 5 December 2006,
he was appointed as an independent non-executive director and
re-designated as a non-executive director on 22 May 2007. He
is a spouse of Ms. Wong Po Ling, Pauline who is the executive
director of the Company.
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Biographical Details of Directors

EFRE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Continued)

Ms. Wong Po Ling, Pauline, aged 30, is an associate
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the Institute of Chartered Accountants in
England and Wales. She is also an associate member of the
Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrator and the
Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries. She holds a Master
degree of Corporate Governance and a Bachelor’'s degree in
Accountancy. Ms. Wong has more than 10 years of experience
in financial accounting, management accounting and auditing,
including working experience in other listed companies. She
was appointed as an executive director on 29 May 2007. She is
a spouse of Mr. Ip Wing Lun who is the executive director of the
Company.

Ms. Bessie Siu, aged 32, has several years of experience in
marketing management, general administration works and trading
business. Ms. Siu holds a Bachelor degree in Science, Master of
Marketing Management and Master of Business Administration.
She was appointed as an executive director on 25 April 2006.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Christian Lali Karembeu, aged 37, has accumulated
over 20 years of experience in professional football and a
member of the French National Team which won the World Cup
in 1998. He played in a career spanning famous football clubs
in Middlesbrough F.C., Real Madrid F.C. and Sampdoria F.C..
Mr. Karembeu has substantial experience in the management of
football club and its continuing development. He was appointed
as a non-executive director on 7 August 2007.
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Biographical Details of Directors

EFRE

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Continued)
Mr. Chan Wai Keung, aged 55, is the committee member
of the People’s Political Consultation Committee of Lungguang,
Shenzhen, the PRC since 1998. Currently, he is an executive
director of China Energy Development Holdings Limited (stock
code 228) which is listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong, He is also the President of Global
Resources Recovery (Canada) Inc., GRR Conception Recycling
Inc. and the chief executive officer of True Product ID Technology
Limited, China Fishery and Agriculture Bioenvironmental
Technology (Hong Kong) Ltd. and Sure Trace Security
Corporation (shares of which are listed in OTC Bulletin Board).
Mr. Chan has over 25 years of experience in the operation of
business development, China trade, international trade and
venture capital etc. He was appointed as a non-executive director
on 12 December 2007.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. Chang Kin Man, aged 44 is a certified public accountant
in Hong Kong and a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants and an associate member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Chang
holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Economics and a Master’s
degree in Applied Finance. Mr. Chang has extensive experience
in corporate finance and in accounting field. He worked for
an international accounting firm and a number of public listed
companies for more than 15 years. He is currently an independent
non-executive director of China Energy Development Holdings
Limited (stock code 228) and China Water Industry Group Limited
(stock code 1129), both are listed companies on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange. He was appointed as an independent
non-executive director on 13 July 2006.
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Biographical Details of Directors

EFRE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS (Continued)

Mr. Yau Yan Ming, Raymond, aged 40, has over 12 years
of work experience in auditing, accounting, taxation, company
secretarial, corporate finance and financial management, in both
private and listed companies. Mr. Yau is an associate member of
both the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He is currently
an independent non-executive director of Willie International
Holdings Limited (stock code: 273) which is listed on the main
board of the Stock Exchange and he is currently a chairman and
executive director of iMerchants Limited (stock code: 8009) which
is listed on the Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange.
Mr. Yau holds a Master degree in Science majoring in Japanese
business studies and Bachelor degree in Business Administration
majoring in accounting in the United States of America. He was
appointed as an independent non-executive director on 9 October
2007.

Mr. Yip Man Ki, aged 44, has had over 19 years sales,
marketing and general management experience in both HK
and PRC market. He had held various sales, marketing and
management positions with several multinational corporations. He
was awarded Hong Kong Management Association Distinguished
Marketer in 2006. Mr. Yip has obtained an EMBA degree and a
BBA degree from The Chinese University of Hong Kong. He was
appointed as an independent non-executive director on 22 May
2007.
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Biographical Details of Directors

EFRE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS (Continued)

Mr. Zhou Han Ping, aged 38, graduated in Guangzhou
Institute of Foreign Trade in 1994. Mr. Zhou was an Export &
Import Manager of China National Packaging Import & Export
Corporation) (FEIB 3 HO4AF]) . Mr. Zhou was a Manager
of South China Region of CIMC (China International Marine
Container Holding Limited) (PRI GBEEEFE (£8) BRHER
NS
Settlement. Now, Mr. Zhou is Managing Director of Shenzhen Miao
Fang Development Company Limited CRYITIE FRHERARAT)
since 2002. He was appointed as an independent non-executive
director on 28 February 2007.

He had over 10 years experience in International Trade
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Corporate Governance Report

ERELSHSE

The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) is pleased
to present this Corporate Governance Report in the Company’s
annual report for the year ended 31 March 2008.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
PRACTICES

The Board believes that good corporate governance is crucial
to improve the efficiency and performance of the Group and to
safeguard the interests of the shareholders. The Company has
applied the principles of the Code on Corporate Governance
Practices (the “Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rule”) and complied with all the
applicable code provisions of the Code, except the following:

Code provision A.4.1 stipulates that non-executive directors
should be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election.
The Company deviates from the above code provision as one
of non-executive Directors (“NEDs”) and all independent non-
executive Directors (“INEDs”) are not appointed for specific
terms. According to the provisions of the Company’s Articles
of Association, however, the NEDs and INEDs are subject to
retirement and re-election. The reason for the deviation is that
the Company believes that the Directors ought to be committed
to representing the long term interest of the Company’s
shareholders.

Code provision A.4.2 stipulates that all directors should be subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Pursuant
to the Company’s Articles of Association, the chairman shall not
be subject to retirement by rotation or be taken into account in
determining the number of directors to retire in each year. In order
to ensure the smooth running and continuous adhering to the
strategic view of the Company, the Company believes that the
position of chairman is more practical to be maintained and not to
be subject to retirement by rotation.

Code provision E1.2 stipulates that the chairman of the board
(the “Chairman”) should attend the annual general meeting
(the "AGM”). The Chairman was unable to attend the AGM on 3
September 2007 due to his business trip but he has designated
the Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer of the
Company to answer questions raised at the AGM.
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Corporate Governance Report

ERELSHSE

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the full set of Model Code set out
in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as the code of the conduct
for securities transactions by directors (the “Model Code”). The
prohibitions on securities dealing and disclosure requirements
in the Model Code apply to specified individuals including the
Group’s senior management and also persons who are privy to
price sensitive information of the Group. Having made specific
enquiry of all directors, the Board confirms that the director of
the Company have complied with the Model Code regarding
directors’ securities transactions during the year and up to the
date of publication of the Annual Report.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

The Company has a separate chairman and chief executive
officer. The two positions are assumed by different persons, in
order to ensure that their independence, accountability and power
are clear. Mr. Yeung Ka Sing, Carson, the chairman of the Board,
is responsible for the operation of the Board and the formulation
of the Company’s strategies and policies, Mr. Hui Ho Luek, Vico,
the chief executive officer, with the assistance of other members
of the Board and senior management, is responsible for the
management of the Company’s business, the implementation of
significant policies, the daily operational decisions as well as the
coordination of the overall.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

(a) Up to the date of this Annual Report, the Board
comprises a total of fourteen members including eight
executive directors, two non-executive directors and four
independent non-executive directors. Members of the
Board have different professional and relevant industry
experiences and background so as to bring in valuable
contributions and advices for the development of the
Group’s business. Six out of fourteen of the Board is
non-executive directors and independent non-executive
directors and four of them are qualified accountants.
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ERELSHSE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

(b)

The Company has received written annual confirmation
from each independent non-executive director of their
independence to the Group. The Group considered
that all independent non-executive directors meet the
independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules and are independent in accordance with the terms
of the guidelines. The names of the directors and their
respective biographies are set out on pages 8 to 13 of this
Annual Report.

The Board holds meetings on a regular basis and will
meet on other occasions when a board-level decision on a
particular matter is required. The Board also monitors and
controls financial performance in pursuit of the Group’s
strategic objectives. The names of the directors during the
financial year and their individual attendance of is set out

EFg®

(b)

below:

Name of Directors
Executive:

Mr. Yeung Ka Sing, Carson (Chairman)
(appointed on 20 July 2007)
Mr. Hui Ho Luek, Vico
(appointed on 20 June 2007)
Mr. Steven McManaman
(appointed on 2 July 2007)
Mr. Fan Zhi Yi
(appointed on 5 November 2007)
Mr. Lee Yiu Tung
Mr. Ip Wing Lun
(re-designated as non-executive director
on 22 May 2007 and re-designated as
executive director on 17 July 2007)
Ms. Wong Po Ling, Pauline
(appointed on 29 May 2007)
Ms. Bessie Siu

EERE
BiTE®:

BRBEE(ESE)
(RZFTLFLAZTHEZA)
R
(RZFZLE AZTHEZA)
Steven McManaman %t 4
(RZZFZLFLAZRAEZRE)
BEREE
(R=ZTLF+—ARBEZRM)
TRRLE
EkmiLE
(R=ZZ+FRA-T-HHATAE
FHTEERR-_ZT+FLA++A
AEAHTES)
FERZL
(RZZZLERA-THNBEZT)
SE e

i
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29/42 N/ATNER N/ATNER
8/42 N/ATNER N/ATNER
1/42 N/ATNER N/ATER
25/42 N/ATNER N/ATNER
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Name of Directors
Non-executive:

Mr. Christian Lali Karembeu
(appointed on 7 August 2007) (B

EERE

FRTES

Christian Lali Karembeu %t %
AT EFEN\ACREZA)

Mr. Chan Wai Keung & ﬁ-?%iii

(appointed on 12 December 2007) (RZEZLET-A+-BEZMT)
Mr. Fu Wing Kwok, Ewing =L I%’E

(retired on 3 September 2007) (RZZEZLFNA=ZREM)
Independent non-executive: BIUFRTES:
Mr. Chang Kin Man BRREE
Mr. Yau Yan Ming, Raymond EK'Eﬂ%’E

(appointed on 9 October 2007) (R=ZEZLF+ANBEZRE)
Mr. Yip Man Ki QXE%E

(appointed on 22 May 2007) (RZZEZLERA-+-HBEZMA)
Mr. Zhou Han Ping AEFEE

(d)

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control
of the Company, oversee the Group’s businesses and
evaluate the performance of the Group. The Board also
focuses on overall strategies and policies with particular
attention paid to the growth and financial performance of
the Group.

The Board delegates day-to-day operations of the Group
while
When
the Board delegates aspects of its management and

to Executive Directors and senior management,
reserving certain key matters for its approval.
administration functions to Management, it has given
clear directions as to the powers of the Management,
in particular, with respect to the circumstances where
Management shall report back and obtain prior approval
from the Board before making decisions or entering into
any commitments on behalf of the Company.

EFgE®

Audit Remuneration

Board Committee Committee
EFe ELZAY FHZR®
1/42 N/ATE R N/ATEF
1/42 N/ATE R N/ATE R
0/42 N/ATE R N/ATE R
8/42 6/6 3/3
1/42 2/6 2/3
1/42 6/6 3/3
0/42 0/6 0/3
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Corporate Governance Report

ERELSHSE

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Board appointed two directors Mr. Christian Lali Karembeu
and Mr. Chan Wai Keung, as Non-executive Directors on 7 August
2007 and 12 December 2007 respectively. They are subject to
retirement and eligible for election in annual general meeting in
accordance with the Articles of Association of the Company.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Board established a Nomination Committee which comprises
four independent non-executive directors, Mr. Chang Kin Man,
Mr. Yau Yan Ming, Raymond, Mr. Yip Man Ki and Mr. Zhou Han
Ping. It is chaired by Mr. Chang Kin Man. The terms of reference
of the Nomination Committee have been reviewed with reference
to the Code. The nomination committee is responsible for
reviewing the Board composition, developing and formulating
relevant procedures for nomination and appointment of directors,
making recommendations to the Board on the appointment
and succession planning of directors, and assessment of the
independence of the independent non-executive directors. The
nomination committee carries out the process of selecting and
recommending candidates for directorships by making reference
to the skills, experience, professional knowledge and personal
integrity of such individuals, the Company’s needs and other
relevant statutory requirements and regulations. An external
recruitment agency may be engaged to carry out the recruitment
and selection process when necessary. The nomination committee
is also responsible for considering and approving the appointment
of its members and making recommendations to shareholders on
directors standing for re-election, providing sufficient biographical
details of directors to enable shareholders to make an informed
decision on the re-election and where necessary, nominate and
appoint directors to fill casual vacancies. The chairman may
in conjunction with the other directors from time to time review
the composition of the Board with particular regard to ensuring
that there is an appropriate number of directors on the Board
independent of management.
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ERELSHSE

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Board established a Remuneration Committee which
comprises four independent non-executive directors, namely Mr.
Chang Kin Man, Mr. Yau Yan Ming, Raymond, Mr. Yip Man Ki and
Mr. Zhou Han Ping. Mr. Chang Kin Man is the chairman of the
Committee.

The primary objectives of the remuneration committee include
making recommendations on and approving the remuneration
policy and structure and remuneration packages of the executive
directors and the senior management. The remuneration
committee is also responsible for establishing transparent
procedures for developing such remuneration policy and
structure to ensure that no director or any of his/her associates
will participate in deciding his/her own remuneration, which
remuneration will be determined by reference to the performance
of the individual and the Company as well as market practice and
conditions.

The remuneration committee normally meets annually for
reviewing the remuneration policy and structure and determination
of the annual remuneration packages of the executive directors
and the senior management and other related matters. The
remuneration committee shall consult the Board about these
recommendations on remuneration policy and structure and
remuneration packages.

The remuneration committee held 3 meetings during the year
ended 31 March 2008 and reviewed the remuneration policy and
structure of the Company and remuneration packages of the
executive directors and the senior management for the year under

review.
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ERELSHSE

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (Continued)
Emolument Policy

The directors are paid fees in line with market practice. The
Group adopted the following main principles of determining the
directors’ remuneration:

— No individual should determine his or her own
remuneration;

— Remuneration should be broadly aligned with companies
with who the Group competes for human resources;

— Remuneration should reflect performance.

In addition to the basic salaries, a share option scheme is
adopted for rewarding good performers as well as retaining
talented staff for the continual operation and development of the
Group.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee comprises of four independent non-executive
directors, namely Mr. Chang Kin Man (Chairman of the Audit
Committee), Mr. Yau Yan Ming, Raymond, Mr. Yip Man Ki and Mr.
Zhou Han Ping. Mr. Chang and Mr. Yau both are certified public
accountants.

The main duties of the audit committee include the following:

— To review the financial statements and reports and
consider any significant or unusual items raised by the
qualified accountant, compliance officer or external
auditors before submission to the Board;

— To review the relationship with the external auditors by
reference to the work performed by the auditors, their fees
and terms of engagement, and make recommendation to
the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal
of external auditors;
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (Continued)
To review the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Company’s financial reporting system,
system and risk management system and associated
procedures.

internal control

The audit committee held 6 meetings during the year ended 31
March 2008 including the review the financial results and reports,
financial reporting and compliance procedures, and the re-
appointment of the external auditors.

There are no material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern. The Board has not taken
any different view from that of the audit committee regarding
the selection, appointment, resignation or dismissal of external
auditors.

The Company’s annual results for the year ended 31 March 2008
reviewed by the audit committee.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

An amount of approximately HK$600,000 was charged to the
Group’s consolidated financial statement for the year ended 31
March 2008 for the auditing services provided by Shu Lun Pan
Horwath Hong Kong CPA Limited, the existing auditor who was
appointed on 3 September 2007. There is no significant non-audit
service assignment provided by Shu Lun Pan Horwath Hong Kong
CPA Limited during the year.

INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board had conducted a review of the effectiveness of the
system of internal control of the Group. The Group’s internal
control system includes a defined management structure with
limits of authority, is designed to help the achievement of business
objectives, safeguard assets against unauthorized use or
disposition, ensure the maintenance of proper accounting records
for the provision of reliable financial information for internal use or
for publication, and ensure compliance with relevant legislation
and regulations. The system is designed to provide reasonable,
but not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss
and to manage rather than eliminate risks of failure in operation
systems and achievement of the Group’s objectives. The Board
throughout the Group maintains and monitors the internal control
systems on an ongoing basis.
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Report of the Directors

EFEHE

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) have pleasure in submitting
their report together with the audited financial statements of
Grandtop International Holdings Limited (hereinafter referred as
to the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively
referred as to the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2008.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of the subsidiaries are engaged in provision of
apparel sourcing and sportswear & apparel trading. The activities
and other particulars of the subsidiaries are set out in Note 19 to
the financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATION

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2008 are
set out in the consolidated income statement on page 38.

The state of affairs of the Group and the Company as at 31 March
2008 are set out in the consolidated and Company’s balance
sheets on page 39 and 40 respectively.

The directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend
nor transfer of any amount to reserves in respect of the year
ended 31 March 2008 (2007: HK $ Nil).

SEGMENT INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group’s turnover and contribution to the results
by principal activities for the year ended 31 March 2008 is set out
in Note 5 to the financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group and of the Company during the year are set out in Note 16
to the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS
Details of the movements in the Company’s share capital and
share options during the year are set out in Notes 27 and 32 to
the financial statements respectively.
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Report of the Directors

EFERE

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and of

the Company during the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 41 and Note 28 to the
financial statements.

FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 116.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the financial year and up to
the date of this report were:

Executive Directors
Mr. Yeung Ka Sing, Carson
(appointed on 20 July 2007)
Mr. Hui Ho Luek, Vico
(appointed on 20 June 2007)
Mr. Steven McManaman
(appointed on 2 July 2007)
Mr. Fan Zhi Yi
(appointed on 5 November 2007)
Mr. Lee Yiu Tung
Mr. Ip Wing Lun
(re-designated as non-executive director on 22 May 2007 and
re-designated as executive director on 17 July 2007)

Ms. Wong Po Ling, Pauline
(appointed on 29 May 2007)
Ms. Bessie Siu

Non-Executive Director
Mr. Christian Lali Kaembeu
(appointed on 7 August 2007)
Mr. Chan Wai Keung
(appointed on 12 December 2007)
Mr. Fu Wing Kwok, Ewing
(retired on 3 September 2007)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Chang Kin Man
Mr. Yau Yan Ming, Raymond
(appointed on 9 October 2007)
Mr. Yip Man Ki
(appointed on 22 May 2007)
Mr. Zhou Han Ping
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Report of the Directors

EFEHE

DIRECTORS (Continued)

In accordance with Article 87(1) of the Company’s Articles of
Association, Mr. Yeung Ka Sing, Carson, the Chairman of the
Company, shall not be subject to retirement by rotation at the
annual general meeting.

In accordance with Articles 87(1) and 86(3) of the Company’s
Articles of Association, Mr. Fan Zhi Yi, Mr. Chan Wai Keung, Mr.
Yau Yan Ming, Raymond, Mr. Lee Yiu Tung, Mr. Zhou Han Ping
and Mr. Chang Kin Man shall retire from office at the forthcoming
annual general meeting (“AGM”) and shall be eligible for re-
election. Ms. Bessie Siu will retire at the AGM in accordance with
article 87(1) but does not offer herself for re-election at the AGM
for personal reasons.

DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS

Biographical details of the directors of the Company are set out
on page 8 to 13 of the annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICES CONTRACTS

Mr. Steven McManaman, an executive Director, has entered into
a service agreement with the Company for an initial fixed term
of 3 years commencing from 2 July 2007 which is subject to
termination with six months’ notice in writing served by either party
to the other party or payment in lieu of notice. Mr. McManaman
is entitled to a monthly director’'s salary of HK$100,000 which
was determined by the Board on the basis of his qualification,
experience and level of responsibilities and by reference to
market benchmark. He is subject to retirement by rotation and re-
election at annual general meeting of the Company in accordance
with the Company’s articles of association.

Mr. Christian Lali Karembeu, an non-executive Director, has
entered into a service agreement with the Company for an
initial fixed term of 3 years commencing from 7 August 2007
which is subject to termination with six months’ notice in writing
served by either party to the other party or payment in lieu of
notice. Mr. Karembeu is entitled to a monthly director’s salary of
HK$100,000 which was determined by the Board on the basis of
his qualification, experience and level of responsibilities and by
reference to market benchmark. He is subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election at annual general meeting of the Company
in accordance with the Company’s articles of association.

Save as the above, none of the directors has a services contract
with Company and of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by
the Company within one year without payment of compensation,
other than statutory compensation.
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Report of the Directors

EFERE

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS

No contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business to
which the Company, its holding company or any of its subsidiaries
was a party and in which a director of the Company had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the
end of the year or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
SECURITIES

As at 31 March 2008, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executives and their associates in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)) which were required
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 & 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests which
they are taken or deemed to have under Section 344 of the SFO)
or which are required pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be

EEzShiER

ARA] - HERARREERHERRRF
REFANEMHERETIARREZTER
SREREEAREMHYAREXBEEE
RZEFEH -

EEZEGER

RZZBZNF=ZA=+—H EZRaRT
BABHRKE ZHE ATHRARA S HEER
AR (TR REBFLFRBAEEGIEXVE)
2Bt - BERG RES P AEE %&Hﬁf
EBIEXVEE 7 R8N HREAMET AR

R AP 2 s (B %aﬁ&ﬁﬂfwﬁw%sm
GATEENR Az iER)  EHFREED
352 16 E /BB AZIGPIFTIE 2 5o 8kt 2
B RESETEFRGZEETARE

entered in the register referred to therein, or which are required to  ZBHEARQA RSB FT 2SO T ¢
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Companies, were as follows:
(i) Shares (i) [::3)]
Percentage
of the
Number of issued share
issued capital of the
ordinary Company
shares held BELTF
Name of directors Nature of interest Note FRFE 8T BERIT
EERSR BEHE Hat BiERsE BxESL
Mr. Yeung Ka Sing, Carson Held by controlled corporation (1) 115,200,000 (L) 15.15%
BRMITE AZEHI AR RE
Personal interest 23,520,000 (L) 3.09%
B AR
138,720,000 18.24%
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Report of the Directors

EFEHE

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN EEZESHEE D
SECURITIES (Continued)
(i) Shares (Continued) (i) B&ipE)
Percentage
of the
Number of issued share
issued capital of the
ordinary Company
shares held EFNTE
Name of directors Nature of interest Note FREERT =5 3¢
EFENS oMY ki3 BERNE EFESLL
Mr. Hui Ho Luek, Vico Held by controlled corporation 2) 96,000,000 (L) 12.63%
G e PSS IVNCIESY St
Family interest (3) 18,975,000 (L) 2.50%
R IR =
114,975,000 15.13%
Ms. Bessie Siu Held by trust (4) 96,000,000 (L) 12.63%

Ll e

The letter “I” denotes a long position in shares of the Company.

MEFERA
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Report of the Directors

EFERE

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
SECURITIES (Continued)

(i)

Notes:

(1)

Shares (Continued)

These Shares were held by Great Luck Management Limited, a
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and wholly
owned by Mr. Yeung Ka Sing, Carson.

These Shares were held by Premier Rise Investments Limited,
a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and wholly
owned by Mr. Hui Ho Luek, Vico.

These Shares were held by Ms. Leung Choi Fan, the spouse of Mr.
Hui Ho Luek, Vico.

These Shares were held by Huge Gain Development Limited which
is wholly owned by Nerine Trust Company Limited (“Nerine Trust”).
Nerine Trust is the trustee of SB Unit Trust and holds properties for
the benefit of holders of units issued by SB Unit Trust. All the units
issued by SB Unit Trust were held by the family members of Mr.
Siu Ban, co-founder of the Group and the discretionary objects.
Ms. Bessie Siu is one of the beneficiaries of the trust.

EECcESHR®

B iR (&)

RERG AR ERERATRE  ZL
ATREBE LR SEMAT  LHIBR
BEE2EHE -

ZEBRMABEREFRAAFE &2
FITYRN BB e 2 B S REM A S - A AT
L2 EHA -

ZEBAD

A °

FREREEZRBRY S XL

% % & 19 ENerine Trust Company
Limited ([Nerine Trust]) 2 & # B ~
Huge Gain Development Limited ¥4
Nerine Trust/2SB Unit Trust Z X sEA -
A SB Unit Trust FTE1TERL ZFAAZ
FIZFFEHE - SB Unit Trust fTET 22
R R AR EZ LR AP ABI LS
KK ERERETZZEAZTE - B
HETRZETEZEP—EBZHEA -
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Report of the Directors

EFEHE

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN EEZESHEE D
SECURITIES (Continued)

(i) Shares (Continued) (i) B&ipE)

Save as disclosed herein, none of the Directors and chief BRAXHHEEIN  EENEHRITHRAES

B8\ 30 A AN A B S A ] R
FE(EERBFREGERIIEXVER) 2K
BN ESTRAREFRABRDE

executives and their associates has any interests in the shares, W
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of
its associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the 1

SFO) which were required to be notified to the Company and XVEE7 k8D i FEAME AN A KL
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 & 8 of Part XV of the T2 iz (B EE 5 RS K015 344 (6T E
SFO (including interests which they are taken or deemed to have 1”56}2?%7%2%%) B EE R HEIE S 352 &

e AR R 2 SR 2 3 -
é?Lﬁﬁ%x%Zﬁ <5 AR B AR A
DI R T2 M -

under section 344 of the SFO), or which are required, pursuant to
section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to
therein, or which are required to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies.

28

(ii) Share options (ii) REBxig
Number of Exercise price
Name of Directors Date of Grant options held per Share Expiry Date
EElR #"HAM FRiSMEBRER R BEREMATEER BREH
HK$
JETT
Lee Yiu Tung 21 August 2007 6,912,000 1.126 20 August 2017
FRR —EELFENAZ+—H —E—+FN\AZT+H
Ip Wing Lun 21 August 2007 6,912,000 1.126 20 August 2017
eSS —ET+FNAZ+—H —tFNAZ+AH
Wong Po Ling, Pauline 21 August 2007 6,912,000 1.126 20 August 2017
TER —EELFEN\AZ+—H —E—+FN\AZ+H
Steven McManaman 21 August 2007 2,000,000 1.126 20 August 2017
—ETEFNAZ+—H S e AV o =
22,736,000
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Report of the Directors

EFERE

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2008, the following interests and short positions

of 5%

or more of the issued share capital of the Company were

recorded in the register of interests required to be kept by the

Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO.

FEERR
R-ZFENF=A=+—0 REEARF

I

S

ENHEIETIE 36 IEFEEZERE

OB R NIMA AR R R 2 BITIRAN5% A
FrREER%R -

issued ordinary

Percentage of
the issued
share capital

Number of

Name of shares held of the Company

shareholders Capacity Notes RSB RT EELFERT

BRBE 513 Hfat BEERSE BFEESL

Great Luck Management Limited Beneficial owner 115,200,000 15.15%

BHEBERAR EnlEA

Premier Rise Investments Limited Beneficial owner 2 96,000,000 12.63%

HEREBRAA EnEEA

Huge Gain Development Limited Beneficial owner 3 96,000,000 12.63%
EnEEA

Nerine Trust Company Limited Trustee of trust 3 96,000,000 12.63%
EFEZEFEA

Notes:

Great Luck Management Limited is wholly owned by Mr.
Yeung Ka Sing, Carson, who is also a director of Great Luck
Management Limited and the Company.

Premier Rise Investments Limited is wholly owned by Mr.
Hui Ho Luek, Vico, who is also a director of Premier Rise
Investments Limited and the Company.

Huge Gain Development Limited is wholly owned by Nerine
Trust. Nerine Trust is the trustee of SB Unit Trust and holds
properties for the benefit of holders of unites issued by SB Unit
Trust. All the units issued by SB Unit Trust were held by the
family members of Mr. Siu Ban, co-founder of the Group and
the discretionary objects. Both of Ms. Bessie Siu and Ms. Tsai
Lai Wa, Jenny are the beneficiaries of the trust.

Bt

1.

BHERERARMGRALELERE
B RITABRHEERERARRARR
ZE=E-

BEREERAR B EREERERE
B ENARERERRARLART]
ZE=E-

Huge Gain Development Limited
Nerine Trust® & # A ° Nerine Trust
& SB Unit Trustz {55 A - I /& SB
Unit TrustFREETTE ML 2 # A A2 M &
FEEME ° SB Unit Trust T 17,2 226
BAIAAREE HFBIRABEEZ
RGKEREREEIZZEARE - &
MEFL L REBELTHRZETZR
mA e
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Report of the Directors

EFEHE

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

(Continued)
Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2008, no person had
registered any interests or short positions of 5% or more the
issued share capital of the Company that was required under
Section 336 of the SFO.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE
OF LISTED SECURITIES OF THE
COMPANY

The Company has not redeemed any of its shares during the
year. Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during
the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year and up to date of this report, no director of the
Company or any of its subsidiaries is considered to have an
interest in a business which competes or is likely to compete,
either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group,
pursuant to the Listing Rules, other than those business of which
the directors were appointed as directors to represent the interest
of the Company and/or the Group.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman
Islands, being the jurisdiction in which the Company was
incorporated, which would oblige the Company to offer new
shares on a pro rata basis to its existing shareholders.
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Report of the Directors

EFERE

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the heading “SHARE OPTION SCHEME”
below, at no time during the year was the Company, its holding
company or any of its subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements to
enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of the Company or
any other body corporate. None of the directors, or their spouses
or their children under the age of 18, had any right to subscribe
for the shares of the Company, or had exercised any such rights
during the year.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Under the old share option scheme and new share option scheme
adopted by the Company on 22 October 2002 and 30 July 2007
respectively, the board of directors of the Company may, at its
discretion, grant options to eligible participants to subscribe for
share in the Company. The details of share option scheme are set
out in Note 32 to the financial statements.

EFRBEORRFZHERN

B T3[R AERT &) P EEE SN » AR E]
H PR A w3 EAE AT P 8 2% B 6 AR AT B
MY ESEERLZE  BEARAZEEE
BARRBRETAEMEBR Z B HESFT
RN - EFHWEZRBIRm T\
ZFEREABERFRBARRRMN 2 E
AIRENE TR G FER -

RE R 4Rt &)
BIBEAAR SR -TEE_F+A=+=H
R-ZTLF LA +HEMNEBREE
RFERIETE - ARRES A RERTER
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19 o RS BB H N M B HRERME32 -
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Report of the Directors

EFEHE

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) fEEzigsta o)
Details of the movements of share options granted under the Old €& - A/ 4R 55 & B AR R 5T 21 2 5768 IR i
Scheme and New Scheme during the year are set out below: SEREEREZZEEHNT
Outstanding
Outstanding as at
as at 1 31 March
April 2007 Granted Lapsed 2008
R-EZTLEE during during RZZSZ)N\FE Exercise
Date of grant mA—AH the year the year =B=+—H price
S A8 ARITE RERBH REREH ARITE TR
Directors:
-
Lee Yiu Tung 21 August 2007 — 6,912,000 — 6,912,000 1.126
TR ZTTEF
NAZ+—H
Ip Wing Lun 21 August 2007 — 6,912,000 — 6,912,000 1.126
E Y —TTLF
NA=+—H
Wong Po Ling, Pauline 21 August 2007 — 6,912,000 - 6,912,000 1.126
TER ZTTLF
NAZ+—H
Steven McManaman 21 August 2007 — 2,000,000 — 2,000,000 1.126
ZTTEF
NAZ+—H
Sub-total — 22,736,000 — 22,736,000
ot
Employees:
EE:
7 June 2007 — 24,000,000 — 24,000,000 0.500
e
~NALER
21 August 2007 — 24,384,000 — 24,384,000 1.126
e
NA=Z+—H
Sub-total — 48,384,000 — 48,384,000
ot
Others:
Eth:
21 August 2007 — 22,000,000 (22,000,000) — 1.126
ZTTEF
NAZ+—H
Sub-total — 22,000,000 (22,000,000) —
ot
Grand total — 93,120,000 (22,000,000) 71,120,000
#n
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Report of the Directors

EFERE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company’s corporate governance principles and practices
are set out in the Corporate Governance Report on page 14 to 21
to this Annual Report.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company had adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”). Having made specific
enquiry to all the directors of the Company, all the directors
confirmed that they have complied with the required standard
of dealings and the code of conduct regarding the Model Code
adopted by the Company.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has an Audit Committee which was established
on 22 October 2002 in accordance with the requirements of
the Code of Best Practices set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules, for the purpose of reviewing and providing supervision
over the Group’s financial reporting process and internal controls.
The Audit Committee comprises four independent non-executive
directors of the Company.

During the year, the Audit Committee met with the Group’s
executive directors, senior management and the external auditors
to consider and review the Group’s financial statements, the
nature and scope of audit reviews, and the effectiveness of the
system of internal control and compliance. The Audit Committee
held 6 meetings during the year. The Audit Committee had
reviewed the unaudited interim accounts and the audited annual
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2008 and
communicated with external auditors before recommending them
to the Board of Directors for approval.

tERER
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Report of the Directors

EFEHE

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the directors of the Company as at
date of this report, the Company has maintained the prescribed
public float under the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

Shu Lun Pan Horwath Hong Kong CPA Limited was appointed as
the new auditor of the Company in succession to M. C. Ng & Co.
who resigned from office on 3 September 2007.

The financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2008
have been audited by Shu Lun Pan Horwath Hong Kong CPA
Limited who retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
appointment.

On behalf of the Board
Ip Wing Lun
Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer

Hong Kong, 28 July 2008
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Bi B RE

/\@ Horwath

&3

Shu Lun Pan Horwath Hong Kong CPA Limited
W G ER AT A R 8

20th Floor, Central Plaza
18 Harbour Road
Wanchai, Hong Kong

Telephone
Facsimile

: (852) 2526 2191
: (852) 2810 0502

horwath@horwath.com.hk
www.horwath.com.hk

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
GRANDTOP INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the financial statements of Grandtop International
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 38 to
115, which comprise the consolidated and company balance
sheets as at 31 March 2008, the consolidated income statement,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
cash flow statement for the year then ended, and a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

Directors’ responsibility for the
financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation and the true and
fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. This
responsibility includes designing, implementing and maintaining
internal control relevant to the preparation and the true and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and
applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting
estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

HASERERARAFEER
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Independent Auditor’s Report

B3 B IR S

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audit and to report our opinion solely
to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of
engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for

the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance as to whether the financial statements are free from
material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment,
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of
the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making
those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control
relevant to the entity’s preparation and true and fair presentation
of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Bi B RE

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at
31 March 2008 and of the loss and cash flows of the Group for
the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in
accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

SHU LUN PAN HORWATH HONG KONG CPA LIMITED
Certified Public Accountants

28 July 2008

Choi Man On

Practising Certificate number P02410

20th Floor, Central Plaza
18 Harbour Road
Wanchai

Hong Kong
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Consolidated Income Statement

iy B L0\

MeEax

For the year ended 31 March 2008
EENNFEZA=+—HIFE

Turnover
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other revenue and gain

Impairment loss on property, plant and
equipment

Impairment loss on available-for-sale
financial assets

(Impairment loss)/reversal of impairment
loss on trade receivables

Loss on disposal of subsidiaries

Selling expenses

Administrative expenses

Share-based payments

Finance costs

Loss before taxation

Taxation

Loss for the year attributable to equity
holders of the Company

Dividend

Loss per share

— Basic (HK$ cents)

— Diluted

EXE
SHE A

EF

H bWz K &R

W% -~ BERREZRE
B8
AHHESREEZRE
BB

U B BBk 2 O fE
BB/ REBRRRE
HEMB AR ZER
HEMX

TR

VAR 32 5 2 3OR
BEKA

BRBiRIE R

IR

AR BIRIERTE ARG
AREE R

& ls

BRBIR

— EARCGE)

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Notes

g3

16

20

22(ii)
29

10

13

14

15

2008 2007
ot 1. 713 —ETLF
HK$’000 HK$000
FAETT FAET
20,595 42,813
(17,574) (36,597)
3,021 6,216
404 24
(1,919) (909)
(110,923) (1,320)
(1,745) 3,076
— (329)
(790) (1,924)
(29,563) (15,836)
(10,200) —
= (48)
(151,715) (11,050)
(418) =
(152,133) (11,050)
(22.47) (2.69)
N/ATREHR N/A 73 A

BEM Z PR R AR TSR 2 —851n ©




Consolidated Balance Sheet

ReHEERBE
At 31 March 2008
RZFFENF=A=4+—H

2008 2007
ZETINE —ETLF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
HiaE TFET FET
Non-current assets FEREEE
Property, plant and equipment W BERRE 16 2,780 4,594
Prepaid land lease expenses A SR 17 - 289
Investment property BB 18 1,250 —
Available-for-sale financial assets AHEESRHEE 20 134,364 —
138,394 4,883
Current assets mEEE
Inventories FE 21 —_ 3,656
Prepaid land lease expenses FART LA SR 17 289 431
Trade receivables JEUWE B IR TR 22 1,099 5,613
Deposits, prepayments and e BRFIEREMD
other receivables FEWRIE 22 544 1,835
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEAEBE 23 7,055 6,757
8,987 18,292
Total assets HE#E 147,381 23,175
Equity e
Reserves & 28(a) 5,043 (3,895)
Share capital A&7 27 7,603 3,840
Total equity EawE 12,646 (55)
Non-current liabilities FREBAR
Amounts due to directors ENEERIE 25 97,982 =
Deferred tax liabilities EEFRIBAE 26 167 167
98,149 167
Current liabilities mENAR
Trade payables, accruals and ERE SRR - BT RIER
other payables H b BT 38 24 5,588 3,066
Taxation payable FEfSBEIR 20,415 19,997
Amounts due to directors JEREEIE 25 10,583 —
36,586 23,063
Total liabilities BfREE 134,735 23,230
Total equity and liabilities EERARHAE 147,381 23,175
Net current liabilities RENARRE (27,599) (4,771)
Total assets less current liabilities HERERRHAR 110,795 112
Net assets/(liabilities) HE (AR)BE 12,646 (55)
These financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the ~ AMBRALEREN T N\FLA-+/\B#L
board of directors on 28 July 2008. R IERETE -
Mr. Yeung Ka Sing, Carson Mr. Ip Wing Lun
BRREE EikiakE
Director Director
E3 EF
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. BEMI 2 iR BRI Rk 2 —EB1D ©
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Balance Sheet

HEARBE
At 31 March 2008
R NF=A=+—H

2008 2007
—ETNE ZETLF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
HiaF FRET FET
Non-current assets FRMEEE
Property, plant and equipment L E R & 16 1,007 115
Investments in subsidiaries RHB AR Z1%E 19 5,774 6,274
Available-for-sale financial assets AHEESREE 20 134,364 —
141,145 6,389
Current assets mEEE
Deposits, prepayments and e~ FBAHERE M E Y
other receivables A 544 105
Amounts due from subsidiaries iR S NGIE O 19 1,132 —
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEAEEE 23 6,941 1,206
8,617 1,311
Total assets HEEHE 149,762 7,700
Equity T
Reserves & 28(b) 22,344 (3,326)
Share capital N 27 7,603 3,840
Total equity EaWE 29,947 514
Non-current liabilities FRBAR
Amounts due to directors JENESEFIE 25 97,982 =
Current liabilities mE AR
Accruals and other payables FEST R I8 N EAth FE < 708 24 5,559 1,945
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEAST BT B & B 5k IE 19 5,691 5,241
Amounts due to directors FENEEFIA 25 10,583 —
21,833 7,186
Total liabilities AfREE 119,815 7,186
Total equity and liabilities RarRARHEE 149,762 7,700
Net current liabilities mEERIBE (13,216) (5,875)
Total assets less current liabilities EEHERTDAR 127,929 514
Net assets HEERE 29,947 514

AUBRREEFTEN T NFLA - +/\A#H
T RIRRETE -

These financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the
board of directors on 28 July 2008.

Mr. Yeung Ka Sing, Carson Mr. Ip Wing Lun

BRREEE EikfmkE
Director Director
EE EE

BEM 2 B RE AR R 2 — &P D °

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

= A VLS
GeEEDx

For the year ended 31 March 2008
HE—FE/\F=A=+—HItFE

Group F5E
Share
Share Contribution Share option Accumulated
capital surplus premium reserve losses Total
k% HARR AR  RRERRE RHER ait

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT AT AT AT AT AT

(Note 27)  (Note 28(a))  (Note 28(a))  (Note 28(a))

(zr)  (Ease)  (Wetos(a)  (Wi2s(a)

At 1 April 2006 RZEZ/EMA-A 3,200 (85) 25,146 = (25,010) 3,251

Loss for the year and total recognised ~ AEEBERAFRERARREE

expense for the year - — — — (11,050) (11,050)
Placing of shares &R 640 = 7104 = = 7744
At 31 March 2007 NZZ2LEZRZ+-H 3,840 (85) 32,250 — (36,060) (55)

Loss for the year and total recognised ~ AEEBERAFRERARREE

expenses for the year — — — — (152,133) (152,133)
Open offer of shares NREERD 1,920 = 35,120 - — 37,040
Placing of shares RERD 1843 = 115,751 = = 117594
Recognition of equity-settled share-based BB EREE 2

payments (Note 32) WA

RE(Wit32) = - — 10,200 — 10,200
Lapse of share options BAMERE - - - (2,828) 2,828 -
At 31 March 2008 N-2E\FZBZ+-A 7,603 (85) 183,121 7312 (185,365) 12,646

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. BEMT 2 (i sE BB I gk 2 — 2B 15 °
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

FeHeRE

For the year ended 31 March 2008
BE—FZE)\F=H=1—HIFE

Cash flows from operating
activities
Loss before taxation
Adjustments for:
Depreciation of property, plant and

equipment

Release of prepaid land lease
expenses

Write-off of property, plant and
equipment

Impairment loss on property, plant and

equipment

Loss on disposal of subsidiaries

Charge for/(Write-back of) provision
for obsolete inventories

Impairment loss/(reversal of
impairment loss) on available-for-
sale financial assets

Interest income

Interest expenses

Impairment loss/(reversal of
impairment loss) on trade
receivables

Fair value gain on investment property

Share-based payments

Operating cash flows before working
capital changes
Decrease in inventories

Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables

Decrease in deposits, prepayments and
other receivables

Increase/(decrease) in trade payables,
accruals and other payables

Cash (used in)/generated from
operations

Profits tax paid

Interest expenses

Interest received

Net cash (used in)/generated from
operating activities

BEIDZHRNE

B 5% B 5 4R
R
W BB RRETE

TAIN £ 3078 £ 5 S AR RR
E NS

ME - BEREREZ
B EE
HEWMBARZER

BREFERER
(&mE)

tHESREEZ
BEBE,(RfE
B D

FEUA

FEXH

FEWE HER 2
BEBE,(RfE
B D

REMEZ A ERE

PARSC A7 2 A5 2 3R0R

BEBSEPR KL
REME

FERD

FEUE 5 BR R4 (5hn)
Be  BNFREREM
JRE U SR IER A

FEINE SRR - R RIA
Ko EL R A5 3R IR

2,/ Cid)

k() EE
RE

ENFEH

B H

E WA E

BEXE(ER) EEZ

B& S8
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2008 2007
—EENE —ETLF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET F8T
(151,715) (11,050)
1,054 1,226
431 450
115 —
1,919 907
— 329

927 (2,597)
110,923 1,320
(93) (24)

— 48
1,745 (3,076)
(213) —
10,200 —
(24,707) (12,467)
2,729 7,892
2,769 (211)
1,291 5,582
2,522 (279)
(15,396) 517
— (453)

— (48)

93 24
(15,303) 40




Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

= A, Sy B
GeEBeRE
For the year ended 31 March 2008
BE—FZE)\F=H=1—HIFE

Investing activities
Payments to acquire property, plant and
equipment
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries
Acquisition of available-for-sale financial
assets
Acquisition of investment property

Net cash used in investing
activities

Financing activities
Issue of shares by open offer and
placements
Repayment of mortgage loan
Advances from directors
Repayment of advance from a director

Net cash generated from financing
activities

Net increase in cash and cash
equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents at end
of year

Analysis of the balances of cash
and cash equivalents
Cash at bank and in hand

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

Note
Htat
BREZH
WHEMIZE « R REBEZ
IH
& B R R FTIS RRIA 29

WA HESREE

Wi E Y2

RRZHRAZRLBNA

BEEE
BBAFBRE R EHETT
B

BIIBER

E k.

BREEZBN

of i mE

T

MEETHELEZR S BN

ReRB&EERAAM
BH

FOZHeRBSFERE

FRZBERBESFERE

BeRBA&FEMEGER
Sk
RITRE RFRAD

2008 2007
—EENE —ETLF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET F8T
(1,274) (286)
— 105
(245,287) —
(1,037) —
(247,598) (181)
154,634 7,744
— (46)
108,565 —
— (3,288)
263,199 4,410
298 4,269
6,757 2,488
7,055 6,757
7,055 6,757

BEPM 2 M s A A TSR 2 — BB 17 o
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Rt 35 38 &= B 6

31 March 2008
ET\F=A=1—H

—=

ORGANISATION AND OPERATIONS

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands
as an exempted company with limited liability and has its
registered office at Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive P.O.
Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands and
principal place of business at Unit 3008, 30/F., West Tower,
Shun Tak Centre, 168-200 Connaught Road Central, Hong
Kong. In the opinion of the directors, the holding company
of the Company is Huge Gain Development Limited, which
is incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI").

The Company engages in investment holding. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in Note 19 to the
financial statements.

These consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollars and all values are rounded to the
nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
STANDARDS

In the current year, the Group has adopted all of the new
and revised Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”), which collective term includes all applicable
individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) that are relevant to its operations
and effective for the current accounting period of the
Group and the Company. The adoption of these new and
revised HKFRSs did not result in substantial changes to
the Group’s accounting policies.

The impact of the adoption of HKFRS 7 “Financial
and HKAS 1 Amendments
“Capital Disclosures” has been to expand the disclosures

Instruments: Disclosures”

provided in these financial statements regarding the
Group’s financial instruments and management of capital.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Rt 35 38 &= B 6

31 March 2008

— ==/

F=HA=1+—H

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED 2.

STANDARDS (Continued)

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements,
the following standards and interpretations were in issue

but not yet effective:

HKAS 1 (Revised)
EEETERE 195 (K1E5])
HKAS 23 (Revised)
BEGTERE 235 (K 1EFT)
HKAS 27 (Revised)
BEGTELE 27 5% (K 1EET)
HKASs 32 & 1 (Amendments)

BB EAFE 2R KR
EREACCEIP:Y)
HKFRS 2 (Amendment)

BB 75 5 2R
F 25 (1BEIA)
HKFRS 3 (Revised)
B E 2 28 358
(g&185T)
HKFRS 8
BB BIRELELE 85
HK(IFRIC) — Int 12
R (RE M BmERRE
ZEE)— REBE12%
HK(IFRIC) — Int 13
BB (BRI R E 2
ZEg)— 2EFE 135
HK(IFRIC) — Int 14

B (ERFBRE2E
ZEE)— REFE 145

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
what the impact of the above standards or interpretations

Presentation of financial statements

IR HmK 2 25
Borrowing costs

fEE A

Consolidated and separate financial statements
ira RIE B R
Puttable financial instruments and obligations arising

on liquidation

AREERMTANBRRELZEE

Share-based payment-vesting conditions and

cancellation

VAR 19 32 7 2 3ROR — SRIB kA Rt 88

Business combinations

EBAast

Operating segments

EIE DA

Service concession arrangements

RIS B L LTk

Customer loyalty programmes

= EBHETE

HKAS 19 — The limit on a defined benefit asset,

BRI RIEERTZ 2R
(&)

Rk SR mABILE B T8
RIRRIEE RAEMR LN -

Effective for annual
periods beginning
on or after
REUTHRRL&ARZ
FEHREN

1 January 2009

1 July 2009
—ETNFLA—H
1 January 2009

—ETHhF-A—A
1 January 2009
—ZEENF—H—H

1 July 2009
—EZNFLA—H

1 January 2009
e =
1 January 2008
—TT)\F-A—AH

1 July 2008
—TT/\FLA—H

1 January 2008

minimum funding requirements and their

interaction

HFEGFENFE 19N — HRAEBNEELZ

~FEN\F-A—H

R4 HEESERRETRYE

AEBEIEAERE L E RIS ERE
BRERBEZE -

is expected to be in the period of their initial application.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Rt 35 38 &= B 6

31 March 2008
—ETN\F=ZA=F+—H

3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES

(a) Statement of compliance
These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standard, accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. These financial statements also comply
with the applicable disclosure provisions of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing
Rules”).

(b) Basis of preparation of financial
statements
These financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, as modified for
revaluation of investment property and available-for-
sale financial assets which are carried at fair value.

(c) Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries.

The results of subsidiaries acquired and disposed
of during the year are included in the consolidated
income statement from the effective date of
acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal,
as appropriate.

All significant intercompany transactions, balances
and unrealised gains on transactions between group
enterprises are eliminated in full on consolidation.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment on
the asset transferred.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Rt 35 38 &= B 6

31 March 2008
—ETN\F=ZA=F+—H

3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their
accounting policies into line with those used by
other members of the Group.

Minority interests in the net assets excluding
goodwill of consolidated subsidiaries are identified
separately from the Group’s equity therein. Minority
interests consist of the amount of those interests
at the date of the original business combination
and the minority’s share of changes in equity since
the date of the combination. Losses applicable to
the minority in excess of the minority’s interest in
the subsidiary’s equity are allocated against the
interests of the Group except to the extent that the
minority has a binding obligation and is able to
make an additional investment to cover the losses.

Business combinations

Acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using
the purchase method. The cost of the acquisition is
measured as the aggregate of the fair values, at the
date of exchange, of assets given, liabilities incurred
or assumed, and equity instruments issued by the
Group in exchange for control of the acquiree,
plus any costs directly attributable to the business
combination. The acquiree’s identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities are recognised at
their fair values at the acquisition date.

3.

FESHBEE®

(c)

(d)

meBE(E)

MAEME - B R R B
RAFLRE  SHEBEK
REAEBHEMK B RAHR
RE—3 -

ESEMBARFEE(TE
EEE)h 2P BRRERTY
RASERE 2 =D RHE
Bl e LPBERERBENRE
EBEHARZSRRZ TR
RAOBBRRZ EIEHEREE -
B D SRR B 1 R M
ZOBEREE  aEAEH
2R FETOR - DB
BRERAHRNEME - LAIERE
SMEE R EBBAIRRS -

E 210

REBKBERBARIABE
SRDERE o WERATIIRE
BmEHiEREE  EL
RARERBRBEEE IR
ZHIERTAERE 2 A THER
B ANEBAFEESIBZ
ERRAFTE - HFRBARZ
ARANEE BELRIARAE
TR E R R 2 A FERE

w7 °
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Rt 35 38 &= B 6

31 March 2008
—ETN\F=ZA=F+—H

3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(d)

(e)

Business combinations (Continued)

Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised as
an asset and initially measured at cost, being the
excess of the cost of the business combination
over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of
the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities recognised. If, after reassessment,
the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the
acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities exceeds the cost of the
business combination, the excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities in which the Group has
the power to govern the financial and operating
policies, so as to obtain benefits from their activities.
In assessing control, potential voting rights that
presently are exercisable are taken into account.

Investments in subsidiaries are included in
the Company’s balance sheet at cost less any
impairment losses. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividends received and receivable.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Rt 35 38 &= B 6

31 March 2008
—ETN\F=ZA=F+—H

3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(f)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at
historical cost less accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses. The cost of an asset
comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its present
working condition and location for its intended use.
Expenditure incurred after the asset has been put
into operation, such as repairs and maintenance
and overhaul costs, is charged to income statement
in the period in which it is incurred. In situations
where it can be clearly demonstrated that the
expenditure has resulted in an increase in the future
economic benefits expected to be obtained from
the use of the assets, the expenditure is capitalised
as an additional cost of the asset.

Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost
of asset over their estimated useful lives, using
the straight-line method. The estimated useful
lives, residual values and depreciation method are
reviewed at each balance sheet date, with the effect
of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis. The principal annual rates are as
follows:

Buildings 2.5%, or over the terms
of the leasehold land,

if shorter

Leasehold improvements  20%, or over the terms

of the lease if shorter

Furniture and fixtures 20%
Office equipment 20%
Motor vehicles 20%

The gain or loss arising on the disposal or
retirement of an item of property, plant and
equipment is determined as the difference between
the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

(g9) Investment property
Investment property, which is a property held to
earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation, is
measured initially at its cost, including transaction
costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
property is measured at fair value. Gains or losses
arising from changes in fair value of investment
property are included in profit or loss for the period
in which they arise.

(h) Operating leases
Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks
of ownership of assets remain with the lessor are
accounted for as operating leases.

Rentals payable under operating leases are
charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over
the term of the relevant lease. Benefits received and
receivable as an incentive to enter into an operating
lease are also spread on a straight-line basis over
the lease term.

The prepaid land lease expenses are stated at cost
less accumulated releases to profit or loss and any
impairment loss, which are released to profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease
term.
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(i)

Impairment of assets excluding financial
assets

At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its assets to determine whether
there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss (if any). Where it is not possible to
estimate the recoverable amount of an individual
asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs. Where a reasonable and consistent basis
of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are
also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or
otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group
of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate
that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset
for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the
asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to
its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(i)

Impairment of assets excluding financial
assets (Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses,
the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-
generating unit) is increased to the revised estimate
of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or
cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit
or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost, including an appropriate
portion of fixed and variable overhead expenses,
is assigned to inventories by the method most
appropriate to the particular class of inventory,
with the majority being valued on a first-in-first-out
basis. Net realisable value represents the estimated
selling price for inventories less all estimated costs
of completion and cost necessary to make the sale.
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

(k) Financial assets
Financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on trade date where the purchase or sale of a
financial asset is under a contract whose terms
require delivery of the investment within the
timeframe established by the market concerned,
are initially measured at fair value, plus transaction
costs, except for those financial assets classified
as at fair value through profit or loss, which are
initially measured at fair value. During the year, the
Group’s financial assets are loans and receivables
and available-for-sale financial assets, which are
subsequently accounted for as follows, depending
on their classification:

(i) Loans and receivables

Trade receivables, loans and other
receivables that have fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an
active market are classified as loans
and receivables. Loans and receivables
are measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method, less any
impairment losses. Interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest
rate, except for short-term receivables
when the recognition of interest would be
immaterial.
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(k) Financial assets (Continued)

(ii)

Available-for-sale financial assets
Investments in securities which do not fall
into any of the other categories of financial
assets are classified as available-for-sale
financial assets and are stated at fair value.
Gains and losses arising from changes in fair
value are recognised directly in equity in the
available-for-sale financial asset revaluation
reserve with the exception of impairment
losses, interest calculated using the effective
interest method and foreign exchange gains
and losses on monetary assets, which
are recognised directly in profit or loss.
Where the investment is disposed of or is
determined to be impaired, the cumulative
gain or loss previously recognised in the
available-for-sale financial asset revaluation
reserve is included in profit or loss for the
period.

Dividends on available-for-sale financial
assets are recognised in profit or loss when
the Group’s right to receive the dividends is
established.

The fair value of available-for-sale financial
assets denominated in a foreign currency
is determined in that foreign currency and
translated at the spot rate at the balance
sheet date. The change in fair value
attributable to translation differences that
result from a change in amortised cost of
the asset is recognised in profit or loss, and
other changes are recognised in equity.
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(k) Financial assets (Continued)

(iii)

Impairment of financial assets
Financial assets, other than those at fair
value through profit or loss, are assessed
for indicators of impairment at each balance
sheet date. Financial assets are impaired
where there is objective evidence that as a
result of one or more events that occurred
after the initial recognition of the financial
asset, the estimated future cash flows of the
investment have been impacted.

For equity securities, a significant or
prolonged decline in the fair value of the
security below its cost is considered to be
objective evidence of impairment.

For all other financial assets, objective
evidence of impairment could include:

— significant financial difficulty of the
issuer or counterparty; or

— default or delinquency in interest or
principal payments; or

— it becoming probable that the
borrower will enter bankruptcy or
financial re-organisation; or

the
technological, market, economic

— significant changes in

or legal environment that have an
adverse effect on the debtor.
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING 3. XEEEK®
POLICIES (Continued)
(k) Financial assets (Continued) (k) &MBEEE)
(iii) Impairment of financial assets (iii) RBEEREE)
(Continued)
If any such evidence exists, any impairment fid BB A % EFE
loss is determined and recognised as B RIBREBEEZT
follows: P75 NEE R FER
— For trade and other current — HEMNE SR
receivables and other financial R % H A FE A
assets carried at amortised cost, RIE AR E A
the impairment loss is measured as R H R AR T
the difference between the asset's RZemEE
carrying amount and the present ms - BEE
value of estimated future cash flows, BREEZK
discounted at the financial asset’s H B Z & mh
original effective interest rate, where BEERBER
the effect of discounting is material. F = (i REIR 52
This assessment is made collectively ZBEKN)AE
where financial assets carried at ZAhEF R R
amortised cost share similar risk emEREZ
characteristics, such as similar ERETE o W
past due status, and have not been 12 B 55 A R 5|
individually assessed as impaired. RZeMmEE
Future cash flows for financial assets B & E R
which are assessed for impairment B flnsE
collectively are based on historical Lhz @ BB 1S R
loss experience for assets with credit RS2 58 ET
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For available-for-sale securities,
the cumulative loss that has been
recognised directly in equity
is removed from equity and is
recognised in profit or loss. The
amount of the cumulative loss that
is recognised in profit or loss is the
difference between the acquisition
cost and current fair value, less any
impairment losses on that asset
previously recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment losses recognised in profit
or loss in respect of available-for-
sale equity securities are not reversed
through profit or loss. Any subsequent
increase in the fair value of such
assets is recognised directly in equity.

3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING 3. XEEEK®
POLICIES (Continued)
(k) Financial assets (Continued) (k) &MIEE)
(iii) Impairment of financial assets (iii) RBEEREE)
(Continued)

If in a subsequent period the amount fis B B B B &

of an impairment loss decreases HEBRD

and the decrease can be linked BZERIDE

objectively to an event occurring after B B 1 SRR (B

the impairment loss was recognised, EEEEEZ

the impairment loss is reversed =R - Al

through profit or loss. A reversal of an VERIEN SRR S
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(k) Financial assets (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Impairment of financial assets
(Continued)

Impairment losses are written off against the
corresponding assets directly, except for
impairment losses recognised in respect of
trade and other receivables, whose recovery
is considered doubtful but not remote. In
this case, the impairment losses for doubtful
debts are recorded using an allowance
account. When the Group is satisfied that
recovery is remote, the amount considered
irrecoverable is written off against trade and
other receivables directly and any amounts
held in the allowance account relating to that
debt are reversed. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously charged to the allowance
account are reversed against the allowance
account. Other charges in the allowance
account and subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off directly are
recognised in profit or loss.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial
asset and of allocating interest income over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate
is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts through the expected life
of the financial asset, or where appropriate,
a shorter period.
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(k) Financial assets (Continued)

(v)

Derecognition of financial assets
The Group derecognises a financial asset
only when the contractual rights to the cash
flows from the asset expire; or it transfers
the financial asset and substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the
asset to another entity. If the Group neither
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership and continues
to control the transferred asset, the Group
recognises its retained interest in the asset
and an associated liability for amounts it may
have to pay. If the Group retains substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of
a transferred financial asset, the Group
continues to recognise the financial asset
and also recognises a collateralised
borrowing for the proceeds received.

(n Financial liabilities and equity instrument

issued by the Group

(i)

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified
as either financial liabilities or equity in
accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangement.
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(n Financial liabilities and equity instrument

issued by the Group (Continued)

(i)

(iv)

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that
evidences a residual interest in the assets of
an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by the Group are
recorded at the proceeds received, net of
direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

The Group’s financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value, net of transaction
costs, and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest
method, with interest expense recognised on
an effective yield basis.

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial
liability and of allocating interest expense
over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate the exactly discounts
estimated future cash payments through
the expected life of the financial liability, or
where appropriate, a shorter period.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
The Group derecognises financial liabilities
when, and only when, the Group’s obligations
are discharged, cancelled or they expire.
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(m)

(n)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and deposits held at call with banks, and other
short-term highly liquid investments with original
maturities of three months or less that are readily
convertible to a known amount of cash and are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.
Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand
and form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management are also included as a component of
cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the
consolidated cash flow statement.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the
current tax and deferred tax.

(i) Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on
taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit
differs from profit as reported in the income
statement because it excludes items of
income or expenses that are taxable or
deductible in other years and it further
excludes items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group’s liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by
the balance sheet date.
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(n) Taxation (Continued)

(ii)

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on differences
between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities in the financial statements
and the corresponding tax bases used
in the computation of taxable profits, and
is accounted for using the balance sheet
liability method. Deferred tax liabilities
are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences and deferred tax
assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the
extent that it is probable that taxable
profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises
from goodwill or from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of
other assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(n) Taxation (Continued)

(ii)

Deferred tax (Continued)

The carrying amount of any deferred tax
assets is reviewed at each balance sheet
date and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available to allow all or part of the
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for
taxable temporary differences arising on
investments in subsidiaries, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of
the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse
in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax
assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments
and interests are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that there will be
sufficient taxable profits against which
to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse
in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
measured at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period in which the liability
is settled or the asset realised, based on
tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the
balance sheet date. The measurement of
deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Group expects, at
the reporting date, to recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING 3. XEEEE®
POLICIES (Continued)
(n) Taxation (Continued) (n) WMEE)

(ii) Deferred tax (Continued) (ii) BERF(E)
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset REMBEERAE
when there is a legally enforceable right to RAEEERE S ABNE
set off current tax assets against current tax i 18 & = 1K 8 B B A
liabilities and when they relate to income HEER RRHEF
taxes levied by the same taxation authority — S R B 2 BT
and the Group intends to settle its current FMEAURAREE
tax assets and liabilities on a net basis. BRIZFEEELFH

BEAFIIE A EH B &
R T LA 8H o
(o) Provisions and contingent liabilities (o) BERZRER

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result
of a past event, it is probable that the Group will
be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best
estimate of the consideration required to settle the
present obligation at the balance sheet date, taking
into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding
the obligation. Where a provision is measured
using the cash flows estimated to settle the present
obligation, its carrying amount is the present value
of those cash flows.

When some or all of the economic benefits required
to settle a provision are expected to be recovered
from a third party, the receivable is recognised as
an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement
will be received and the amount of the receivable
can be measured reliably.
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(o)

(p)

Provisions and contingent liabilities
(Continued)

When it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot
be estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed
as a contingent liability, unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed
by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or
more future events, are also disclosed as contingent
liabilities unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote.

Foreign currencies

The individual financial statements of each
Group entity are presented in the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the
For the
purpose of the consolidated financial statements,

entity operates (“functional currency”).

the results and financial position of each Group
entity are expressed in Hong Kong dollar which is
the functional currency of the Company, and the
presentation currency for the consolidated financial
statements.

In preparing the financial statements of the
individual entities, transactions in currencies other
than the entity’s functional currency (“foreign
currencies”) are recorded at the rates of exchange
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At each
balance sheet date, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at the balance sheet date. Non-monetary
items carried at fair value that are denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at the date when the fair value was
determined.

Exchange differences are recognised in profit or
loss in the period.
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING 3. XEEHEED
POLICIES (Continued)
(a) Employees’ benefits (a) EEEF
(i) Short term benefits (i) AERmEF
Salaries, annual bonuses and paid annual e FELARES
leaves are accrued in the year in which FEBRNIEE R
the associated services are rendered by REFERNERTT - &
employees. Where payment or settlement is MR EEREME
deferred and the effect would be material, EZEEAN AZER

these amounts are stated at their present
value.

(ii) Pension obligations
Contributions to the Mandatory Provident
Fund scheme as required under the Hong
Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance are charged to profit or loss when

BIRBEDIER -

(ii) EBHEERE
EEBGMERESE
215 DI R E 2 58 )
NEEFEIHRRE
ERERSRAR -

incurred. The Group has no further payment NEEREDH-KE
obligations once the contribution has been fNEE—FRHRE
made. £

(r) Share-based payments (r) BEHXFGZRIE

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees
and others providing similar services are measured
at the fair value of the equity instruments at the
grant date.

The fair value determined at the grant date of the
equity-settled share-based payments is expensed
on a straight-line basis over the vesting period,
based on the Group’s estimate of equity instruments
that will eventually vest. At each balance sheet
date, the Group revises its estimate of the number
of equity instruments expected to vest. The impact
of the revision of the original estimates, if any, is
recognised in profit or loss over the remaining
vesting period, with a corresponding adjustment to
the share option reserve.
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(r)

(s)

(t)

Share-based payments (Continued)
Equity-settled share-based payments transactions
with other parties are measured at the fair value of
the services received, except where the fair value
cannot be estimated reliably, in which case they are
measured at the fair value of the equity instruments
granted, measured at the date the counterparty
renders the service.

Borrowing costs
All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they are incurred.

Related parties

Two parties are considered to be related if one
party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control
the other party or exercise significant influence over
the other party in making financial and operating
decisions. Parties are also considered to be related
if they are subject to common control or common
significant influence. Related parties may be
individuals (being members of key management
personnel, significant shareholders and/or their
close family members) or other entities and include
entities which are under the significant influence
of related parties of the Group where those parties
are individuals, and post-employment benefit plans
which are for the benefit of employees of the Group
or of any entity that is a related party of the Group.
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING 3. XEEHEED
POLICIES (Continued)
(u) Revenue recognition (u) K2
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the WaiRE W R E 2 AT
consideration received or receivable. Revenue is BFfr2 - WAERBEERPR
reduced for estimated customer returns, rebates & - B R E AU E L
and other similar allowances and exclude value R - BB fEIGER At
added tax or other sales related taxes. BRAHES °
(i) Revenue from the sale of products is (i) HEEMmZWEER
recognised when the Group entity has SEEREmMmEE
delivered products to the customers, the BEFE - mMEPEWE
customer has accepted the products and o BA & ERERA
collectibility of the related receivable is W [E] 4 RE FE U 518 B
reasonably assured. MR °
(ii) Interest income is accrued on a time- (ii) F B M A =2 B i B £
apportioned basis by reference to the EX KBLEREE
principal outstanding using the effective ReAERFEER
interest method. B
(iiy  Rental income from operating lease is (iiy HEHEHzHSBAR
recognised in equal instalments over the TR E 2 & 5t B E
accounting periods covered by the lease LA EE 5 BARERR o
term.
(v) Segment reporting (v) &SEHE

In accordance with the Group’s internal financial
reporting, the Group has determined that business
segments are presented as the primary reporting
format and geographical segments are presented
as the secondary reporting format.

In respect of geographical segment reporting,
revenue is based on the country where the customer
is located, and total assets and capital expenditure
are where the assets are located.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES
OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the
directors of the Company are required to make judgments,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors that
are considered to be relevant. Actual results differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

The following are the critical judgments that the directors
have made in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies and that have the most significant
effect of the amounts recognised in financial statements.

(i) Estimated useful lives of property, plant

and equipment

The Group’s management determines the estimated
useful lives and related depreciation charges of
its property, plant and equipment. This estimate
is based on the historical experience of the actual
useful lives of property, plant and equipment of
similar nature and functions. Management will
increase the depreciation charge where useful lives
are less than previously estimates lives, or it will
write-off or write-down technically obsolete or non-
strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES
OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Impairment of available-for-sale financial
assets

The Group followed HKAS 39 in determining when
an investment was impaired. This determination
required significant judgments. In making these
judgments, the Group evaluated, among other
factors, the duration and extent to which the fair
value of an investment mainly based on the quoted
price, where the investment is listed, was below its
cost.

Fair value estimation of share options
Equity-settled share-based payments recognised
in profit or loss are subject to the limitations
of the option pricing models adopted and the
uncertainty in estimates used by management in
the assumptions. Should the estimates including
limited early exercise behaviour, expected interval
and frequency of open exercise periods in the share
option life and the relevant parameters of the share
option model be changed, there would be material
changes in the amount of share option benefits
recognised in the income statement and share
option reserve.

Write down of inventories

The Group performs regular review of the carrying
amounts of inventories with reference to aged
inventories analysis, expected future consumption
and management judgment. Based on this review,
write down of inventories will be made when the
carrying amount of the inventories decline below
the estimated net realisable value. However, actual
consumption may be different from estimation and
profit or loss could be affected by differences in this
estimation.

Grandtop International Holdings Limited A% BB 2l R A &

Annual Report 2008 4 ¥

4.

o - HE VES I
FHRAE R (&)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

]t B SR E 2 E

AEBEREBEEBEFERE
39 5% % 5 1% & {7 B 1 3R
1B - BERAFEHERFE
WIERZFH - NEH
TEREMBER(HIRER
L) FEERRE)REZ
DNHEERR B 2 B ] 2
o

MRz AFE MR

RIE P RERIAERAEE 2 A
A S 2 SRR P iR B4
EEEA 2RI R EEERME
HRER S A A ET 2 NHERE 1
PTARIR - ffEFH(BREERIR
RITETR - BEREFHAR
B 17 {5 B 2 T8 HA BB S SR 72
B UERBREEAZEE2
BONWE - ABHBRREE
PRI T HE R BB R AR A
SREREREE o

FRRE
REBESEEHROHN - HHR
KOHE B E 2 I E i
MFEZEEE - RIEZR
A WEE 2 EREEREER
HGEtr #37)3E - BIKE7F
BAEITHOR - A > BEEE
AREARINEET - B Z
ERARETERE




Notes to the Financial Statements

Rt 35 8 &= B 6

31 March 2008
—EEN\F=ZA=F—H

4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES
OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

(v)

Impairment of property, plant and
equipment

If the circumstances indicate that the carrying
values of property, plant and equipment may not
be recoverable, the assets may be considered
“impaired”, and an impairment loss may be
in accordance with HKAS 36
Under HKAS 36,

assets are tested for impairment whenever events

recognised
“Impairment of assets”. these
or changes in circumstances indicate that the
recorded carrying amounts may not be recoverable.
When such a decline has occurred, the carrying
amount is reduced to recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of the net selling
price and the value in use. In determining the value
in use, expected cash flows generated by the
asset are discounted to their present value, which
requires significant judgment relating to level of sale
volume, selling price and amount of operating costs.
The Group uses all readily available information
in determining an amount that is a reasonable
approximation of recoverable amount, including
estimates based on reasonable and supportable
assumptions and projections of sale volume, selling
price and amount of operating costs. However,
actual sale volume, selling price and operating
costs may be different from assumptions which may
require a material adjustment to the carrying amount
of the assets affected.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES
OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

(Continued)
(vi) Impairment loss for bad and doubtful
debts

The Group maintains an impairment loss for bad
and doubtful debts for estimated losses resulting
from the inability of the debtors to make required
payments. The Group estimates future cash flows
based on the ageing of the trade receivables
balance, debtors’ credit-worthiness, and historical
write-off experience. If the financial condition of the
debtors were to deteriorate, actual write-offs would
be higher than estimated.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Segment information is presented by way of two segment
formats: (i) on a primary segment reporting basis, by
business segment; and (ii) on a secondary segment
reporting basis, by geographical segment.

The Group’s operating businesses are structured and
managed separately according to the nature of their
operations and the products they provide. Each of
the Group’s business segments represents a strategic
business unit that offers products which are subject to
risks and returns that are different from those of the other
business segments. The business segments of the Group
are businesses of apparel sourcing, apparel trading and
investment holding.

In determining the Group’s geographical segments,
revenues are attributed to the segments based on the
location of the customers, and assets are attributed to the
segments based on the location of the assets.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with
reference to the selling prices used for sales made to third
parties at the then prevailing market prices.
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5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5.

(a)

Business segments

The following tables present revenue, results and

certain asset, liability and expenditure information

for the Group’s business segments for the years
ended 31 March 2008 and 2007.

Segment revenue 3 5ES
Sales to external  #HETFIE

customers xP
Segment results PEEE

Other revenue and ~ Hftlkz5 |
gain &

Unallocated other ~ AAEEMMER
revenue and gain &7

Unallocated expenses R A E 3
Impairment loss on A4k E
available-for-sale  £REEZ
financial assets REEE
Loss on disposal of HEHBARZ
subsidiaries EiE
Finance costs BERA

Loss before taxation BHiA1EE
Taxation BE

Loss for the year — AREMRIE
attributable to A AElG
equity holders of ~ AFEEHE
the Company

Apparel sourcing
PREGIRAE
2008 2007
ZBENE 2T HF
HK$’000 HK$'000

Apparel trading
RS
2008 2007
“PEBA\F _TTLF
HK$’000 HK$'000

SEEHE 2

(a) XBHA
TREJIAEBHEZE_ZTT)N\
FRZZEZTELHF=RA=+—H
IEEEBIEZ WS %
BRETEE ABERIHE

£t o
Investment holding Consolidated total
wRER Gea
2008 2007 2008 2007

=SENF -—TTLF DSRENE| _—TTLE
HK$’000 HK$000  HK$’000 HK$'000

FET TAT FET TAT FET TAT FET TAT
809 982 19,786 41,831 - = 20,595 42,813
809 656 2,212 5,560 - = 3,021 6,216

= = - — 236 = 236 =
168 24
404 24

(48,217)  (15,593)

(110,923) (1,320)  (110,923) (1,320)
= (329)

= (48)

(110,923) (1,697)

(151,745)  (11,050)
(418) -

(152,133)  (11,050)
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5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5. #EEH

(a) Business segments (Continued) (a) EBSEE)
Apparel sourcing Apparel trading Investment holding Consolidated total
PREGIRAE REH R BER REu
2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007

—SBNF -—TTiF PSERNF| —TTLF PSREBNE —TTLF PSEENE —TRLF
HK$’000 HK$000 ~ HK$’000 HK$000 ~ HK$’000 HK$'000  HK$’000 HK$'000
FET THAT FET THET FET TAT FET TAT

Assets gE

Segmentassets  HEEE - 5,505 1,099 1365 144,220 — 145,319 19,181
Unallocated assets KDEEE 2,062 3,994
Total assets BEQE 147,381 23,175
Liabilities R

Segment liabilites 2% EE - 269 20,343 20,812 114,215 — 134,558 21,081
Unallocated liabilities K& & & 177 2149
Total liabilities a5 134,735 23,230

Other segment EftSEEH
information

Capital expenditure B4R - - 16 260 1,258 - 1,274 260

Unallocated capital KB EREX
expenditures - 26
1,274 286

Depreciation and ~ HEREH

amortisation - 365 688 676 740 — 1,428 1,041
Unallocated RARHER
depreciation and ~ H$H
amortisation 57 635
1,485 1,676

Impairment loss of 1% « BE k&
property, plant and  ZJR(EEE
equipment - 909 1,813 = 106 = 1,919 909

Other non-cash HipFERE I

expenses - - 1,745 583 110,710 — 112,455 583
Unallocated other ~ RAEEA
non-cash FREXH
expenses 10,200 1,320
122,655 1,903
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5.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(b)

Geographical segments

5. 9¥EEH@

(b)

Segment Revenue

WESH

Segment capital
expenditure

SElE SEEXMAX
2008 2007 2008 2007
—ETN\E ZETALF —BEN\E ZETEF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FEIT FET FET FET
Hong Kong BA —_ 3,291 1,274 260
The People’s FREE A R 2EAE

Republic of China ([+E])

(the “PRC") — 19,290 — -
Macau i 15,103 20,232 — —
United Kingdom B 5,492 — — —

20,595 42,813 1,274 260

Hong Kong BB
Macau RFT
PRC A ]
United Kingdom T

Segment assets

SHEE
2008 2007
ZEEN\E —ETLF
HK$’000 HK$'000
F&iT FHEIT
10,555 16,272
1,363 6,903
135,463 —
147,381 23,175
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6. TURNOVER 6. ExX@
Turnover represents the sales value of goods supplied to BEENMRPHREZEMZHERE
customers and is analysed as follows: B E5IT :
2008 2007
ZEEN\E —ETLF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEIT FET
Apparel sourcing PR £ ER s 809 982
Apparel trading BRERE 5 19,786 41,831
20,595 42,813
7. OTHER REVENUE AND GAIN 7. EMKAREF
2008 2007
ZEEN\E —ETLF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEIT FET
Rental income (Note 18) WA (B7£18) 23 —
Sundry income ESEI PN 75 —
Bank interest income RITHEUA 93 24
Fair value gain on investment TEMZE 2 AN TFHEWRE (f7218)
property (Note 18) 213 —
404 24
8. FINANCE COSTS 8. MRMF
2008 2007
ZETN\E —ETLHF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Interest on mortgage loan wholly repayable ERAFAZHEEZ
within five years RIBERFE - 41
Bank charges RITWE = 7
—_ 48
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9.

LOSS BEFORE TAXATION

Loss before taxation is arrived at after

charging/(crediting):

Net foreign exchange losses

Cost of inventories sold

Charge for/(write-back of) impairment loss on

inventories (included in “cost of sales” in

the income statement) (Note 21)

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment (Note 16)

Write-off of property, plant and equipment
(Note 16)

Release of prepaid land lease expenses
(Note 17)

Auditor’s remuneration
Share-based payments to consultants
Minimum lease payments under operating

leases in respect of premises

Employee benefit expenses (including
directors’ remuneration (Note 11)):
Salaries and allowances
Pension fund contributions

Share-based payments

9. KMAEGK

BRBIRTA R, (GEA) AT

KIH

SNE B HRIFRR

BHEFERAE

FEREBEZL, (BE)
(FEAIBzR R [HERA])
(KizE21)

mE BERRETE
(Kiz#16)

Y - R 5 K % el g
(Hizt16)

TEfT LA S FH > AR
(Htet17)

ZEEN B2
PARS 4D S5 T (R R 2 50R
REMROATZERERS

RERAZL (RIEESEMS
(KiaE11) ) :
e ROk
RRE HER
VAR A 2 152 30IE

2008 2007
ZEENE —TELF
HK$°000 HK$'000
F&T FEIT

67 —
16,647 39,194
927 (2,597)
1,054 1,226
115 —

431 450

600 450
2,828 =
2,063 1,113
11,664 5,329
286 248
7,372 —
19,322 5,577

A2 BIFR A% B R A 7] Grandtop International Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2008 4

7




Notes to the Financial Statements

Rt 35 8 &= B 6

31 March 2008
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10. TAXATION 10. R\
(a)  Taxation in the consolidated income statement (a) #MHFEB@mRAZTIERS :
represents:

2008 2007
ZZENE ZTTLEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TFRETT FETT
Current tax — United Kingdom (the “U.K.”) PNEARLIE — B ([ 5E )

— Provision for the year — REEEE 418 —
No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been HRAEBRFATERE
made as the Group had no assessable profits BEAXERHEBN(ZEE L
arising from Hong Kong during the year (2007: FTHEIT)  NITEFRFS
HK$Nil). Taxation for overseas subsidiaries is MSFELBE - BINHTE A
similarly charged at the appropriate current rates of Az B REMIZE AR E
taxation ruling in the relevant countries. B2 EERITH R -

(b) The taxation for the year can be reconciled to the (b) RNFE T A] E @ st B 1R R
accounting loss as follows: W

2008 2007

ZEENE T LF

HK$’000 HK$'000

TRETT FAET

Loss before taxation FrE AT ES 1R (151,715) (11,050)

Taxation calculated at respective domestic LASZARM)E FRERAE 218

statutory tax rate (26,205) (1,847)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for ~ RE[FIF L H 2 G2 2&

taxation purposes 19,244 705
Tax effect of income not taxable for BARMBA Z B E

taxation purposes (99) (549)
Tax effect on unused tax losses not REER AR AR B8 2 B %

recognised T 7,478 1,691
Taxation for the year AEFEIE 418 =
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11.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to the Listing

Rules and section 161 of the Hong Kong Companies

Ordinance is as follows:

Year ended 31 March 2008

Executive directors
Lee Yiu Tung

Wong Po Ling, Pauline
Yeung Ka Sing, Carson
Hui Ho Luek, Vico

Fan Zhi Yi

Ip Wing Lun, Allan
Steven McManaman

Non-executive
directors
Christian Lali Karembeu

Chan Wai Keung

Independent non-
executive
directors

Chang Kin Man

Zhou Han Ping

Yip Man Ki

Yau Yan Ming, Raymond

BiTER

TER

B

ke

Steven
MaManaman

FRITESR

Christian Lali
Karembeu

iz

BIUFBRTES

SRR
BT
S
R

11. EFEH&

BIE ETE B RE B R GHEHIZE 161

ERBECEEMESMT

BE_ZZ)\EF=A=1+—HILFE

Retirement

scheme Share-based
Salaries and contributions payments 2008
Fees allowances BRI LBk fR Total
g FeREH g Bt XAZRAE ZEBNFEH
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET FET
- 340 - 898 1,238
- 324 10 898 1,232
— 600 - - 600
- 300 10 - 310
— 146 - - 146
- 306 9 898 1,213
- 896 - 260 1,156
- 2,912 29 2,954 5,895
— 781 - - 781
— 55 — - 55
— 836 - - 836
120 - - - 120
120 - - - 120
103 - - - 103
70 - - - 70
413 - - - 413
413 3,748 29 2,954 7,144
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11. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 11. EFME@
(Continued)
Year ended 31 March 2007 BE_ZZLF=A=+—HLEE
Pension
Salaries and scheme 2007
Fees allowances  contributions Total
e FekE RREHEER T FEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
Executive directors RITES
Lee Yiu Tung TR — 2 — 90
Bessie Siu ik — 160 8 168
Mao Yue E 3 = = — —
Tsai Lai Wa, Jenny BEE — — — —
Edmund Siu /96 — — — —
— 250 8 258
Non-executive directors FRITESE
Fu Wing Kwok, Ewing {BERE — — — —
Alternative director ERES
Peter Christopher Tashjian Peter Christopher Tashjian = = = =
Independent non-executive BUFBTES
directors
Chang Kin Man HER — 9 — 9
Ip Wing Lun £k — 30 — 30
Zhou Han Ping BEETE — 10 — 10
Fu Wing Kwok, Ewing {BERE — — — —
Lo Wing Yan, Emmy B KR — — — -
Liang Kwong Lim RIEEE — — — —
— 130 — 130
— 380 8 388
There were no other emoluments payable to the directors AEFATERNFES H0ic
during the year (2007: HK$Nil). There was no arrangement (ZBZLF  THIT) c AEERL
under which a director waived or agreed to waive any EEENG KRS RE T MHFN L
remuneration during the year (2007: HK$Nil). (=T +F : L) o
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12.

13.

14.

15.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 12.
The five highest paid employees during the year included

five (2007: one) directors whose remuneration is set out in

Note 11 above. Details of the emoluments of the remaining

four non-director highest paid employees in the year ended

31 March 2007 were follows:

Salaries, other allowances e - HfhERL
Pension scheme contributions BB FTEIE R
Share-based payments AR 9 % 1+ 2 SR8

The emoluments of the remaining 4 non-director, highest
paid employees in the prior year fell within the HK$Nil to
HK$1,000,000 band for the year ended 31 March 2007.

LOSS FOR THE YEAR 13.
ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY

HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

The loss for the year attributable to equity holders of

the Company includes a loss of 135,401,000 (2007:
HK$11,161,000) (Note 28(b)) which has been dealt with in

the financial statements of the Company.

DIVIDEND 14.
No dividend was paid or proposed for the year ended 31

March 2008 (2007: HK$Nil), nor has any dividend been
proposed since the balance sheet date.

LOSS PER SHARE 15.

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the
loss for the year attributable to the equity holders of the
Company, and the weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue during the year, as adjusted to reflect the
open offer completed during the year. Basic loss per share
for the year ended 31 March 2007 is restated to take into
effect the open offer completed during the year ended 31
March 2008.

LEmEwMER
ENEERBHFMERRERS(Z
TTLF B EF HBeRR
EXHEN - BEZEBLE=A
S+ BLFEAREERESRS
HBES 2 MBREDT :

2007
—ETLF
HK$'000
FHEIT

629
34

663

BE_TTLF=-A=t+—HAL#F
[ EEEEBRNAIFEST S HH
& 8 2 € N FZT XL E 1,000,000
BT BEN o

FLFIRES B AEGES

RAGREFTEABERNFEBE
£ % [ $8135,401,0003 (= =
T + & : 11,161,000 T ) (M 7=
28(b)) + EMARQR) ZMIEHEF B
}E °

KR
HE_ZTTN\FE=B=+—HIFE
I RN IR A TRS(— 2 F L
BB BAE A KN E
IRAEMAZ S o

BiRER

BREREBRIIZARRRERSE A
REAFEBRREFAEETERR
Z IR B HEARREFER T
MzrRABE)HE BE_TTL
FZAZT - HALEFEZERERNE
BELBY UG RBE-ZTTNF
ZA=t-BLFEATKAREE

B/ 480
LR o
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15. LOSS PER SHARE (Continued) 15. SREBR=

The calculation of diluted loss per share is based on the FREEEB TR N RIRERZE A
loss for the year attributable to the equity holders of the AR FEEEEE - sTEMAZE
Company. The weighted average number of ordinary HRNE TR R ESRERERE
shares used in the calculation is the number of ordinary FTAZFEARNERITEEIREE UKk
shares in issue during the year, as used in the basic loss BRERRIEI TSR LR E S E
per share calculation, and the weighted average number TEARALTARFEERITZEER
of ordinary shares assumed to have been issued at no INFEFHEL -

consideration on the deemed exercise or conversion of all
potential dilutive ordinary shares into ordinary shares.

The calculations of basic and diluted loss per share are BEREARBEEEEATERE
based on: g
2008 2007
—EENFE —TTEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEIT FET
Loss: -1
Loss attributable to the equity holders of the — sHE®ARE AN #5E 5B AT 2 A
Company, used in the basic and diluted loss AR REAERH A E(5EE
per share calculations 152,133 11,050

Number of shares

B AE
2008 2007
ZBB)I\F —TTE
’000 ‘000
FH FAR
(Restated)
(E3])
Shares: B&fn :
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for stEFREARE BT Z L@
basic loss per share calculation T HE 677,020 410,517
Effect of dilution on weighted average number  BERRHEW | v @ AR INHE F15
of ordinary shares in respect of share options* e E 7,177 —
Weighted average number of ordinary shares MESE R BTRE 2 T RRINET
adjusted for the effect of dilution HEr 684,197 410,517
*  Diluted loss per share for the year ended 31 March 2007 has * R FEEFEESREEMS S
not been disclosed as no diluting event existed during the prior WEREHSE —ETfF= H=+4—
year. Because the basic loss per share amount for the year HIFEEZ FREEES - HREE
ended 31 March 2008 is reduced when taking share options BT\ F= A=+ —HIFEZEF
into account, the share options have an anti-dilutive effect on RE A EIE S BT A RIEE B AT )i
the basic loss per share for the year. Accordingly, no diluted b R R E R
loss per share is presented for the year ended 31 March 2008. EARBEZZE - FHIf - L EZ5E

E-FE\FZA=1-ALERZ
SRBIEA -
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND 16. Y% - BER®E
EQUIPMENT
The Group EEFE
Leasehold Furniture Office Motor
Buildings improvements and fixtures equipment vehicles Total
#F  BEWRERE RERRE BOZRA RE an
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
AT AT AT FET FAT FHT
Cost: BE:
At 1 April 2006 RZEZ 5EA-H 7,015 6,146 1,673 1,047 753 16,634
Additions AE — 162 83 41 — 286
Disposals e — — - — (753) (759)
Disposal of subsidiaries ~ HEHERAR
(Note 29) (Wst29) (4.915) (1,277) (299) . . (6.491)
At 31 March 2007 RZZTLEZR
== 2,100 5,031 1,457 1,088 — 9,676
Additions RE = 804 1 393 — 1,274
Write-off s - - (157) (153) — (310)
At 31 March 2008 RZFTN\E=R
=t-H 2,100 5,835 1,377 1,328 — 10,640
Accumulated RHAEREE:
depreciation and
impairment:
At 1 April 2006 RZES/ENA-A 578 1,499 908 793 753 4,531
Charge for the year REERE 75 899 178 74 = 1,206
Impairment recognised  AEEERRRE
for the year — 909 — — — 909
Disposals e — - - - (753) (753)
Disposal of subsidiaries ~ HEHBAR
(Note 29) (329) (382) (362) (87) . . (831)
At 31 March 2007 RZZZLEZR
=+-H 271 2,945 999 867 — 5,082
Charge for the year AEERE 56 744 131 123 — 1,054
Impairment recognised  AEERRZHE
for the year — 1,503 300 116 — 1,919
Write-off e - . (114) (81) . (195)
At 31 March 2008 RZZZN\E=R
=1-H 327 5,192 1,316 1,025 - 7,860

Net carrying value: RERE:
At 31 March 2008 RZZBNEZR

=+-H 1,773 643 61 303 — 2,780
At 31 March 2007 RZZEZt4E=A
==f 1,829 2,086 458 221 = 4,594
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT (Continued)

During the year, certain items of property, plant and
equipment were under-utilised. As a result, the Group
assessed the recoverable amounts of these items. Based
on this assessment, the carrying value of these items
of property, plant and equipment was written down by
approximately HK$1,919,000 (2007: HK$909,000) during
the year. The recoverable amount of the relevant assets
has been determined on the basis of their value in use with
reference to the probable cash flows from these items of
property, plant and equipment.

As at 31 March 2008, the Group’s buildings with a carrying
amount of approximately HK$1,773,000 (2007: HK$Nil)
was charged by the plaintiff in respect of a litigation,
details of which are disclosed in Note 31(ii) to the financial
statements. The Group’s buildings are located in Hong
Kong and held under a long term lease.
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16. ¥k - BE R @)

FAN - ETUE - BEREEEBE
AT - Alt - AEBEFFHZEEE
Z A E £ - BRI - 25D
X BEERZXEBEERFAZER
E MR A 1,919,0008 (=T F +
£ : 909,000 7T) - BEAEE 2T
WESBEEIREERAEELLESER
BEEZEWE  WERZBEE MG
ZHETRAERE °

RZZEENF=A=+—8 &%
EERMEA1,773,0008 (= F
+F: EBLI)ZEFR —FAER
HAEE - BEFIE R HRE M
HB(NBEE - REBZBFURE
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT (Continued)

The Company

Cost:
At 1 April 2006
Additions

At 31 March 2007

Additions
Write-off

At 31 March 2008

Accumulated depreciation:

At 1 April 2006

Charge for the year

At 31 March 2007

Charge for the year
Written-off

At 31 March 2008

Net carrying value:
At 31 March 2008

At 31 March 2007

16. ¥k - BE R @)

Furniture
Leasehold and Office
improvement fixtures equipment Total
HENERE FHUREE N #t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FET FET
BE:
RZZEZ FNA—H — 157 127 284
AE — — 26 26
R-_ET+F=H
=t+-H — 157 153 310
AE 804 76 378 1,258
MisH — (157) (153) (310)
R-ZEZEN\E=H
=t+—H 804 76 378 1,258
SHFE:
RZZZ FNA—H — 83 56 139
AEEHE — 31 25 56
R=_ET+F=H
=t—-H — 114 81 195
AEEME 161 15 75 251
isH — (114) (81) (195)
R-ZEZEN\E=H
=t+—H 161 15 75 251
IREBE:
RZSZTN\E=H
=+-H 643 61 303 1,007
R=_ET+F=H
=t-H — 43 72 115
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17. PREPAID LAND LEASE EXPENSES 17. fAft1ih# &RAX

The Group
*EE
2008 2007
ZEETNE —ETEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Cost: 5% 3
At beginning of year FE4] 2,350 7,115
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 29) LEH B AR (HF29) — (4,765)
At end of year FHR 2,350 2,350
Accumulated balance released to BERERE Rt
profit or loss:
At beginning of year =) 1,630 1,358
Release for the year (Note 9) REZRERR (H12E9) 431 450
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 29) HEH B AR (HF29) — (178)
At end of year FHR 2,061 1,630
Net carrying amount BREFE 289 720
Non-current portion FERNERER 1 - 289
Current portion ENERER 5> 289 431
289 720
The Group’s prepaid land lease expenses are attributable AEFBZEMIHHAESHEIURE
to land located in Hong Kong and held under a long term B WARHIMEA TS ©
lease.
As at 31 March 2008, the Group’s prepaid land lease R_ZEZENF=ZA=+—H  ~5£E
expenses were charged by the plaintiff in respect of a ZTEN TSR —FARRS
litigation, details of which are disclosed in Note 31(ii) to the AEE . BEAFBERYBRERMNE
financial statements. 31(ii) # 5& o
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18.

INVESTMENT PROPERTY

ATE :
At beginning of year REH]
Additions NE

Fair value gain (Note 7)

Fair value:

At end of year REL

The Group’s investment property was revalued as at 31
March 2008 at its open market value by reference to
recent market transactions in comparable properties on
an open market value basis calculated by reference to net
rental income allowing for reversionary income potential.
The valuation was carried out by an independent firm of
professional surveyors, Asset Appraisal Limited.

The property rental income earned by the Group from
its investment property, which is leased out under an
operating lease, amounted to HK$23,000 (2007: HK$Nil).
Direct operating expenses arising on the investment
property in the year amounted to HK$2,000 (2007:
HKS$Nil).

The Group’s investment property is located in Hong Kong
and held under a medium term lease.

RFEW (AT 7)

18. REWME

The Group
x5EM

2008 2007
“EEN\EF =TT 6
HK$’000 HK$'000
FH#EIT TET

1,037 —
213 —

1,250 —

AEEZBREMEN_"FZENF=A
=t—BRIHAME  E2EULH
MEEE(ZE 5 E KA EE
EHERAFBZEBAE)ZA T
LB EAEMISR 5 EM - H{EH
BYUEXNEMEETEERERA
= e

AEEBRENEEHERHEZIRED
ERE 2 WMERM S WA 23,0005 T
(ZBZTLF TBT) - FR - KE
MEEEZEESERET 42,0008
T(ZETLF : THEL) °

REBZREMEMNEE » LWIAH
HIEORA -
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19. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 19. RMBATZI’RERE
AND AMOUNTS DUE FROM/TO i okl NGE R
SUBSIDIARIES

The Company
ARF
2008 2007
ZZENE ZTTLF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Unlisted shares, at cost LIRS - RAAE 22,316 22,316
Less: Impairment loss JR O REEE (16,542) (16,042)
5,774 6,274
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at RARRZZTZENEF=A=+—HZ
31 March 2008 are as follows: FEMBRRFBRT :
Proportion of ownership interest
BEERRESL
Country of Group’s Held Held
incorporation  Particulars of effective by the by the
and operation issued and paid-up interest Company subsidiary
Name of company EMBIR capital F5EZ HEAF  HBMELE  Principal activity
NEER #EER BETREERFHE ERHR ] #H IERH
Dollar Concept International ~ BVI US$1 Ordinary 100% 100% — Apparel sourcing and trading
Ltd. RERAEE EBRAET (overseas based)
REvREERE 5 (EE5)
Fanlink Far East Ltd. BVI US$1 Ordinary 100% 100% — Investment holding
EERNES LRR1ET REHR
Sun Ace Group Ltd. BVI US$1 Ordinary 100% 100% — Investment holding
EERNES LRR1ET REHER
East Step Trading Ltd. Hong Kong HK$1 Ordinary 100% — 100%  Apparel trading (Hong Kong
FRESERAA B LERAAT based)
REES(HEE)
Gala Consultants Group BVI US$1 Ordinary 100% - 100%  Apparel sourcing and trading
Limited ERRAEE EBERAXT (Overseas based)
RERERE S (HE)
Sun Tai Hing Garment Hong Kong HK$115,000 Ordinary 100% — 100%  Investment holding
Making Company Limited ~ &/ L& 115,000 REER

(“Sun Tai Hing")
MARAKERAR
(TFAREL)
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19.

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
AND AMOUNTS DUE FROM/TO
SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

An impairment loss on investment costs of approximately
HK$16,542,000 (2007: HK$16,042,000) was recognised
as at 31 March 2008 because the related recoverable
amounts of the investment costs with reference to the net
assets values of the respective subsidiaries were estimated
to be less than their carrying amounts. Accordingly, the
carrying amounts of the related investment costs are
reduced to their recoverable amounts.

Amounts due from/to subsidiaries are unsecured, interest
free and repayable on demand.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected
the results for the year or formed a substantial portion
of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in
particulars of excessive length.

19. RIBATRZRER

FEWr,FE {1 B} IS 2 R FR IR
(#&)

& & B 2N R (B 5 18 16,542,000 78 T
(ZZZ £ 16,042,000/ 7T )
—EENF=ZA=+—HB®ER " REA
B2REMBAREEFEZBBE
B A2 AT Bl S REET DR EREE
B Al - BRARENAZREER
LEHA M EISEE -

FEWL, FEASFY BB 1 R SR TE R A A
RERIBERER -

ERINFARREERREATZER
SEXAFEREIBRASEEES
EXEHNZARBMBEAR - EF
RBREEMINBRRZFEEEHR
RIRBNITE
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20. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL

20. MTHHESMEE

ASSETS
(a) Equity securities listed in the U.K. (a) ZEB EMRAEFH
(Note (i) (H1az (i)
At cost of acquisition U B R AN

Less: Impairment loss

B < R(ERET1E

At fair value BRAYE
(b) Equity securities listed in Hong Kong (b) ABBLTRAES
(Note (ii)) (B2 (i)
At cost R

At fair value

Note:
(i)

Less: Impairment loss

BATE

During the year, the Company acquired 24,375,975
ordinary shares of 10 pence each or approximately 29.9%
of the issued capital of Birmingham City Plc. (“BCP”)
at a cash consideration of £14,950,029 (equivalent to
approximately HK$237,225,000 at the acquisition date)
from independent vendors. BCP was incorporated in
the U.K. with limited liability and its shares are listed on
the Alternative Investment Market of the London Stock
Exchange (the “AIM”). BCP’s principal place of business
is in the U.K. and is principally engaged in investment
holding. BCP has one subsidiary, Birmingham City Football
Club Plc. registered in the U.K. and it is principally
engaged in operation of a football league club in the
U.K. As the Company failed to appoint any representative
to the board of directors of BCP and had no power to
exercise any significant influence or joint control over
the financial and operating policy decisions of BCP after
the acquisition of equity interest in BCP, the directors of
the Company consider that the Company’s investment in
BCP is not an investment in an associate but should be
designated as available-for-sale equity securities. Taking
into account the transaction costs of HK$8,062,000 that
are directly attributable to the Company’s acquisition of
the equity interest in BCP, the initial cost of the Company’s
investment in BCP as at the acquisition date amounted to
approximately HK$245,287,000.
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The Group and Company

EKERELT
2008 2007
ZEEN\E —ETLF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FBT
245,287 —
(110,923) -
134,364 —
— 1,320
— (1,320)
134,364 —

FR:ARBRABILE S KE
24,375,975k G IR 108 + 2 &
@ & skBirmingham City Plc.
([BCPJ)) B 4T I& AN #729.9% -
IR & KB 514,950,029 % £ (18
£ R U B B HA 49 237,225,000
#IT) c BCPR &R B sE Bk 2 &
ERARF  ERDRBHAEHFR
SBEREMSB([SEERED
B EM-BCPZEE & £
BANEE  ZEZREREER
X% -BCPHEAR — MR &EEE
fit Z K$ B 2 & Birmingham City
Football Club Plc. * EBH{ER
HEGCE —MRIRGZES - H
RAR B RUEEBCP IR #E % R e
ZETRAARERMABCPZEEE
R DT EEMERTE K
HREEHBCPZ B & & EK
K BMARBAEZTRREARAR
BCPZ#ZEWIEMREE & R Al 2%
& HEEEAAHEERAE
% o Kt RARA R UEEBCP IR
H ¥ E(h 2 R 56K 748,062,000
BILE ARERKE R
MBCPRZIREZH AN R
245,287,000 7T °
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20.

21.

AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL
ASSETS (Continued)

Note: (Continued)

For the purpose of assessing the impairment of the
Company’s investment in BCP, market price of BCP’s
shares listed on the AIM is taken into account. The
directors of the Company considered that there is a
significant decline in the fair value of the securities, i.e.
BCP’s market share price quoted on the AIM, below its
cost, which is an evidence of impairment. Therefore, an
impairment loss on available-for-sale financial assets
of HK$110,923,000 was directly recognised in profit or
loss for the year ended 31 March 2008 based on the
BCP’s market share price quoted on the AIM at the spot
transaction rate as at 31 March 2008. Such impairment
losses recognised in profit or loss are not reversed
through profit or loss. Any subsequent increase in the
fair value of such available-for-sale financial assets is
recognised directly in equity. The average market value
of the Company’s investment in BCP subsequent to the
balance sheet date and up to the date of approval of
these financial statements was approximately 26.96 pence
based on the market share prices of BCP quoted on the
AlM.

(i) There was a significant decline in the fair value of the
security below its cost of the equity securities listed in
Hong Kong as at 31 March 2007 and accordingly an
impairment was recognised as at 31 March 2007.

INVENTORIES

Finished goods LUK @
Less: Provision for on obsolete inventories

During the year, the Group had carried out its regular
reviews on the carrying amounts of inventories with
reference to aged inventories analysis, expected future
consumption and management judgment. As a result, the
carrying values of certain inventories were determined to
decline below its estimated net realisable value. Based
on this assessment, the carrying value of inventories
was written down by approximately HK$4,251,000 (2007:
HK$3,324,000) as at 31 March 2008, and an additional
provision for obsolete inventories of HK$927,000 was
recognised for the year accordingly.

The prior year write-back of the provision for obsolete
inventories of HK$2,597,000 arose as a result of an
increase in the estimate net realisable value of certain
goods due to a change in consumer preference during the
year ended 31 March 2007.

B BRTEEE

AHHESREE @

Hiat - (48)
MG AR RN BCP 2% E Z iR
BEimE ' Bt RBCPRMHN S
BEMBZME AARIESR
;%&gfﬂ%%zylﬂ?@(ﬂﬂscmﬁ
BRBEREMBZMHRE)
MEE%?E&&EGEJEXZK + B BRI
BIHR Al AIEHESHRE
B 2 5 1B 5 18 110,923,000 7% 7T
CEHEREBEEZE-_ZTTN\E=A
== EI&EVZ%E/\EE”'EQ
SRR EBCPRHE R =ZZZN
F=RA=+— Ewﬁﬁé}xﬁﬁ%
ZHSRERRERZEHH
RIERERZERABEBETE
ﬁ@%ﬁé%@o%ﬁ%mﬁ\tﬁ%fﬁ
BEE 2 A TFEZ A BE%E N
EERERER - A2RMNBCP
ZHREREE BB REEIEZ
EBERREBZFHAMENA
26.96fE + + JIIRIEBCPIRH R
BEREMISZTERE -

(ii) A—ZELE=A=+—8
%Z/Ai@f\fﬂaﬁiiﬁﬁéﬁﬁﬁé
EmRABHZAAR Bt B
R-ZBETLtF=ZA=+—HER

21. &8

A e
The Group
A5RME
2008 2007
—ZTN\F ZETAF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TRET FET
4,251 6,980
(4,251) (8,324)
— 3,656

FR AEBRESRDNT - BHE
%%%&aﬁz#ljﬁﬁﬁﬁtffﬁﬁﬁ
BEETTHR - Al - BETHFEE
EEEEET AR S ERE G
BIRRE - RIBHWEE  R_ZTTN
FZA=+—HB GHEZEHEEM
474,251,000 T(ZFZT L F -
3,324,000/ 7T) @+ mEEIMNERTF & #
%927,000;%7@?@%@@?%@%
MR

EFRBERTFERGB 2R
2,597, OOO/%TE TEETEm
BEE ﬂﬁ’\étiizgti
=+ —HIFFERRE - AR
HFRRIL NI EL -

X
i

/|

Rg m

= || T
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22. TRADE RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS, 22, BB HIER - &E W

PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER fTREREMERRIE
RECEIVABLES
The Group
A5RME
2008 2007
ZETN\E ZETLF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TFET F&r
Trade receivables EUE SRR 4,453 7,222
Less: Allowance for doubtful debts B REREEHE (3,354) (1,609)
1,099 5,613
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables &% - Ta{ 708 & H b fE W 508 544 1,835
1,643 7,448

(i) The average credit period to the Group’s trade (i)
receivables is 60 days (2007: 60 days).

(ii) The movements in the allowance for doubtful debts (i)
during the years, including both specific and
collective loss components, are as follows:

At beginning of year =)
Charge for/(reversal of) allowance for RERE GRS, (BE)
doubtful debts

At end of year FR
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60K) °
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The Group
*x5KH

2008 2007
—ZENE —ETEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TFRETT FAET
1,609 4,685
1,745 (8,076)
3,354 1,609
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22. TRADE RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS, 22, BB HIER - &E W

PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER FTRERAMEBYRIE 2
RECEIVABLES (Continued)
(i) (Continued) (ii) (#Z)

At 31 March 2008, the Group'’s trade receivables of RZZEZENF=ZA=+—8 -

approximately HK$3,354,000 (2007: HK$1,609,000)
were individually determined to be impaired.

7N 55 B 493,354,0007%8 JT(=
=T+ F : 1,609,000 7T )
ZEWE SRR E ER R EE
RERE - [E5ERE 2B
HEHELBENBEREXFPE
W BEEETTEAA BEW
RIEARYE - F - R
2 HUR R % 3,354,000 % 7T
(ZZZT + 4 : 1,609,000
over these balances. T0) e AEEWERZEL

R B EE M o

The individually impaired receivables related
to customers that were in financial difficulties
and management assessed that none of the
related receivables is expected to be recovered.
Consequently, full allowance for doubtful debts
of HK$3,354,000 (2007: HK$1,609,000) was
recognised. The Group does not hold any collateral

*ETJ““%TEHE B
R BRI D TEZZD"F :

(iii) The ageing analysis of gross trade receivables, (iii)
based on invoice date, is as follows:

The Group
ARE

2008 2007

ZEEBNE ZETLF

HK$’000 HK$'000

TFRET FETT

Within 30 days 30 AN 335 4,291
31 to 60 days 31 XE60KX 1,730 1,636
Over 60 days 60 KA E 2,388 1,295
4,453 7,222

(iv)

The trade receivables net of allowances as at the
balance sheet dates were neither individually nor
collectively considered to be impaired and were not
past due, which relate to a wide range of customers
for whom there was no recent history of default.
Based on the past experience, management
believes that no impairment allowance is necessary
in respect of these balances as there has no been a
significant change in credit quality and the balances
are still considered fully recoverable. The Group
does not hold any collateral over these balances.

REER  SHERBZREE SR
A FEME R KA RKR R ERE R L
AREHR - Ty ERfEZ N 8 AT B R R AT 8
ZEERR REBEBELR  EEE
BiE HREEERAUBEREE
WHERZFERIELER  ARS
ZEBRDAZEKE - AEELE
LSBT A T EH S o
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23. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 23. &R &¥EHAH

For the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement, MEEEeRERM:E RERBRE

cash and cash equivalents include cash and bank
balances.

Most of the Company’s and the Group’s cash and cash
equivalents are denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are
made for varying periods of between one day and three
months depending on the immediate cash requirements
of the Group, and earn interest at the respective short
term time deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited
with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.
The carrying amounts of the cash and cash equivalents
approximate their fair values.

HEER SRR MIRITHLR

REARRBRAEB RS RERE
FEBEB BT AEL -

RITBESREARITERNEXNZS
FREDMAE - EHRERFHEAER
RzERBAR - B-—RE=BAT
E BIEAEEZANKHRSF KM
B &R E T R BRELA
B o RITEBRERNEERF R E
ME R LR 2 R1T - HERAEFH
BRE ZREEEEQFERS -
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24.

25.

TRADE PAYABLES, ACCRUALS 24,
AND OTHER PAYABLES

The ageing analysis of the trade payables of the Group

and the details of the trade payables, accruals and other
payables of the Company and the Group are as follows:

EMRZIRMR - it RIF
B H i B (1 IR

AR B2 A B 5 8RR 2 R DT I
AR RAEE L FISEBER
AR RN FOERENT -

The Group The Company
350 YN

2008 2007 2008 2007

st -1 ZZTHE t 8 s g2

HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET FET FET

Within 90 days 90 KM - 727 - —
91 to 180 days 91 RE180K - 190 - —
Total trade payables ERBSET LS - 917 - —
Accruals and other payables JESH A R & B3 5,588 2,149 5,559 1,945
5,588 3,066 5,559 1,945

AMOUNTS DUE TO DIRECTORS — 25,
THE GROUP AND COMPANY

The amounts due to directors are unsecured, interest
free and repayable on demand, except for amounts of
approximately HK$97,982,000 (2007: HK$Nil) which is not
repayable within twelve months after the balance sheet
date. The directors are also the ultimate shareholders of
the Company.

BREERE — FKH
BRELTF
ENESREAERR - 28 RER
ZRIF(EE o M 497,982,000 7T
(ZEZ+F : B BARGEEH
ToEABEEZRIERIN - ZEE
BNARAR 2 RRER o
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26. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 26. EEREHAR
The movements for the year in the deferred tax liabilities AREERELEFHIEREZEHMT :

are as follows:

The Group
x5EME
2008 2007
—EENE —TTLF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEIT FHET
At beginning and end of year FURFLR 167 167
The deferred tax liabilities mainly represent accelerated BT IEBEEZRINERTERSE
depreciation allowances.
At 31 March 2008, the Group has unused tax losses of RZZEZENF=A=+—H  ~&E
approximately HK$49,532,000 (2007: HK$6,800,000) B 7R ) A T 18 &5 18 49 49,532,000 8
available for offset against future profits. No deferred tax TT(ZZEZ L4 : 6,800,000/ 75 ) 7]
asset has been recognised in respect of such tax losses ISR AR F o P EETE IR K
due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. Such A ROR - i R RIEEIEE
loss may be carried forward indefinitely. E - BRBEEREE -
There was no other material unprovided deferred tax in RAFERREER - BIMAEMERXR
respect of the year and as at the balance sheet date (2007: ABBEERB(ZZEZLF: TH

HK$Nil). TT) °
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27. SHARE CAPITAL

27. BE*x

The Company
F40F
2008 2007
t 4 J]¢:3 ZTTLF
Number Number
of shares Amount of shares Amount
Rir#E &F RHEE £
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Authorised: JEE
Ordinary shares of $0.01 each  BREE0.01 BT LTEMHK 10,000,000,000 100,000 10,000,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: EETRHE :
At beginning of year E1) 384,000,000 3,840 320,000,000 3,200
Issue of share by way of: BRATERTRR :
Open offer (i) NABE() 192,000,000 1,920 — —
Placements (ii) BE(i) 184,320,000 1,843 64,000,000 640
Atend of year iR 760,320,000 7,603 384,000,000 3840
Note: HtaE

0]

During the year, the Company raised approximately
HK$37,040,000, after expenses, by issuing 192,000,000
offer shares at a subscription price of HK$0.20 per offer
share by way of open offer, on the basis of one offer share
per every two shares held, for providing additional working
capital of the Group. The open offer was approved at the
special general meeting of the Company held on 23 April
2007 and was completed on 7 June 2007, resulting in
additional amount of HK$1,920,000 and HK35,120,000
standing in the share capital and share premium account
respectively. All shares issued by the Company rank pari
passu with the then existing shares in all respects. Further
details are set out in the Company’s prospectus dated 18
May 2007;

From 11 July 2007 to 13 November 2007, the Company
raised approximately HK$117,594,000, after expenses, by
issuing 184,320,000 shares by placements at subscription
prices ranging from HK$0.57 to HK$0.80 each to provide
additional working capital of the Group, resulting in
additional amount of approximately HK$1,843,000 and
HK$115,751,000 standing in the share capital and share
premium account respectively. All shares issued by the
Company rank pari passu with the then existing shares in
all respects.

(if)

FRARABBREREM
R EE —BRBEERDHZE
£ PUARBEZFNRERE
ERMD0.208 - 2 RIE B %
77192,000,000 % 3 & % 17 * &
& #937,040,0007% 7T (5T & F X
%) ARAEERHEEINEEER
© o RHABEEREARANR=E
TLEMA_F+=ZARTIERR
HRASG EEME IR=-FZT
tFENAEARENK  BEEBRAR
& 15 5 B 5 BIEESNE R 1,920,000
77T % 35,120,000 7T ° AN A &)
BOIZHARMEE B ZHEAR
HREFTEHZER SR - #
—SHBERARAR =TTt
FRATNBHEZHEEE
P54

R-_ZET+tFE+A+—BR=T
Tr&E+—F+=H ' AQAE
BENTFER0.57ETE0.80/8
JL 2 R B8 B 317 184,320,000 A%
1 - &£ & #117,594,00078 7T
GTRBEX%Z) UWAKRKEEREHE
BINEEES  BBRARKG
s {2 R B8 51 i AR 491,843,000 7
7t }% 115,751,000 7T ° AN A A
BOIZHAERMEE B ZHAR
PREFEHZERSEER
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28. RESERVES

The nature and purpose of each reserve are set out below:

(a) Reserves of the Group
(i) Contribution surplus
The contributed surplus represents the
difference between the nominal value of
share capital of the subsidiaries acquired
pursuant to the group reorganisation on 22
October 2002, over the nominal value of the
shares of the Company issued in exchange
therefor.

Under the Companies Law (2001 Second
Revision) of the Cayman lIslands, the
contributed surplus account is distributable
to the shareholders of the Company under
certain circumstances.

(ii) Share premium
The application of the share premium
account is governed by applicable
regulations of the Cayman Islands.

(iii) Share option reserve
The share option reserve represents the fair
value at respective grant dates in respect
of the outstanding share options of the
Company.
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28. GEfE
RIERFEZHEE R BFHHNAT :

AREZ

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

BAZE
BABBRIERE=Z
T-HE+A=Z+=H
EEEHTIRE 2 KT
BRRZRAHEER
BEARR B ABRBZE
ElipmET 2 KD
EEME ZZE °

YA NP
—EE—EE R
iTHR) - ARAEAES
THERTAZA RS
BR (9 2 3OE (A 2 IR 3R
e AR ©
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MEsEMAMRNE
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28. RESERVES (Continued) 28. fEfE#)
(b) Reserves of the Company (b) ELFZHEM
Contribution Share Share option Accumulated
surplus premium reserve losses Total
BARSR BinidfR RRERE RitER it
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET TET FAT TAT

(Note) (Note 28(a)) (Note 28(a))
(Hrit) (Hit28(a) (Hii28(a)

At 1 April 2006 RIZZE
mA—H 22,116 25,146 = (46,531) 731

Share premium arising on ~~ EERMELZ

placement of shares R G E — 7,104 = - 7,104
Loss for the year (Note 13)  AFEBE(HF 13) — = = (11,161) (11,161)
At 31 March 2007 RZETLE=A

=+-A 22,116 32,250 . (57,692) (3,326)

Share premium arising on ~~ AREERMELL

open offer of shares R E = 35,120 = = 35,120
Share premium arising o~ BERHEEZ

placements of shares R GE — 115,751 = — 115,751
Recognition of equity- BARELERDS

settled share-based R(#izE32)

payments (Note 32) — — 10,200 — 10,200
Lapse of share options BRERK — = (2,828) 2,828 =
Loss for the year (Note 13)  AFEBE(HF 13) — = = (135,401) (135,401)
At 31 March 2008 RZZENEZR

=t+-H 22,116 183,121 7,372 (190,265) 22,344

Note: Htet -
Contributed surplus of the Company ENFZHMARE
The contributed surplus represents the excess of the fair PN BEREEEEHMKERE QT
value of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the group ANFEEARRFARIRZEN B A 7 M
reorganisation over the nominal value of the shares of the T2 EERE 2 =58 °

Company issued in exchange therefor.

Under the Companies Law (2001 Second Revision) of RRHASHEARA( ST —FHE R
the Cayman Islands, the contributed surplus account is EETHR) » N"AR A ER TIER T ABA
distributable to the shareholders of the Company under BHEAZ RERREER DR ©

certain circumstances.
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29. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 29. HEME LT
On 2 June 2006, the Group disposed of its subsidiaries, RZEBEERENA-H ' AARH
namely Elite Team Limited, Easy Billion Limited and EHHI B AR Elite Team Limited
Fairgood Limited. Easy Billion Limited } Fairgood
Limited °
The net assets of those disposed subsidiaries at the date EHEMBARINEE B EEF
of disposal were as follows: BT :
2007
—TTEF
HK$'000
FEr
Net assets disposed of: Frit &€& EFE :
Property, plant and equipment (Note 16) Yz - BRE RXE (M7 16) 5,660
Prepaid land lease expenses (Note 17) T LR (AE 17) 4,587
Available-for-sales financial assets A ESHEE 1,376
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables Be - B RIE R E MR RGRIE 154
Bank and cash balances RITRIRE 15
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FERITEE (5,950)
Trade and other payables BN B 5 R AN b S F0R (5,393)
449
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEKT B AR 2 EE (329)
Total cash consideration BIRSRE 120
Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HEMEE 2R RAFE
Total cash consideration BIRSRE 120
Bank balances and cash acquired Frus g 2 RITEH MRS (15)
105
The subsidiaries disposed of during the prior year did RBEFEALE ZMBARNTER
not contribute significantly to the Group’s cash flows nor AEEZReRENFEATRENE
results. &t o
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30. OPERATING LEASE
ARRANGEMENTS
As lessee
At 31 March 2008, the Group did not have any outstanding
commitments under non-cancellable operating leases. As
at 31 March 2007, the outstanding minimum commitments
under non-cancellable operating leases were as follows:

Within one year —FR
After one year but within five years —FRERAEFA
As lessor

The Group leases out its investment property under an
operating lease. At 31 March 2008, the Group had total
future minimum lease receivables under a non-cancellable
operating lease with the tenant falling due as follows:

Within one year —FR
After one year but within five years —FRBRAEFA

The Company did not have any operating lease
arrangement under non-cancellable operating lease as at
31 March 2007 and 2008.

30. EEHHRH

EHEREA
RZZBZENF=ZA=+—H  A&H
I EARYE A AT BUH QST 2 AR
SNEE - R_FETELF=ZA=1—
B RETAHELERN 2 A&
EAFENT

2007
—ETLF
HK$'000
FEIT

319
288

607

FHHEA
AEBERBEEEHLEEREY
¥ -R-_TENF=HA=+—H ' &
SERBEARAZ TR HELER
KB 2 RRE W RIS RN IA
THIRE R -

2008 2007
—ETN\FE —ETLF
HK$’000 HK$'000
F&iT FHEIT

68 -

46 -

114 o

R-EELFER _ZTENF=A
=+—H  ARBWERET A
CERL A EAEERNOLHE -
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31. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group and Company had the following outstanding

litigations at the balance sheet date:

(i)

(if)

(iii)

A writ was filed against the Company in respect
of a claim for reimbursement of expenses paid on
behalf of the Group amounting to approximately
HK$3,000,000 on 26 July 2006. The Company
was not aware of such alleged payments and had
instructed lawyers to deal with the matter. Based
on the written legal opinion from the legal counsel
dated 21 July 2008, it is considered that the claim
is not justifiable and without merit.

A writ was filed by Siu Ban & Sons Limited (“Siu
Ban”) against Sun Tai Hing, a subsidiary of the
Company, on 11 September 2007 in respect of
a claim for the return of the property of Sun Tai
Hing located in Hong Kong (the “Property”) and
damages for costs and loss of interest Siu Ban
claimed that Sun Tai Hing did not pay the purchase
consideration for the acquisition of the Property in
May 2002. The Property was also charged by the
plaintiff for this claim, details of which are set out
in Notes 16 and 17 to the financial statements. The
management of Sun Tai Hing is of the opinion that
the claim is not justifiable and without merit.

During the prior year, the Group’s amount due to
a director was secured by a corporate guarantee
provided by the Company, which was valued by
the directors at HK$Nil at the date of grant. The
guarantee had been released following the full
settlement of the balance due during the prior year.
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31. RRAR

U
NEEH

C AEBRARRARBATR

R ZHTHR

(i)

(i)

(iii)

RZZTERFEA=+H -
RARERESM - BRN
BREAEEXNZHAZA
3,000,000 7T ° AR &I A
MABEZFEW 2 HIE  WEE
FEAERMERIR L= - RIBAER
FMR=ZZZNFLtHA=+—H
BHCEMERER - AAF]
REBRWEERTE - B
Z R -

RZZEZELtFHhA+—8B -
Siu Ban & Sons Limited
([Siu Banl)mARE Z KB
NAFAEEL IR BR
REFMANBURNEBZWE
(MZ % 1) AR Siu Ban Z A
ARFNEBEZIEEEHEE
Siu Ban 5 fEHT A EIL F LR
ZEEFRANEZMES
NEBERE - ZWETHERE
RHEMRER - BREFISHNA
BRAMFEA6 K17 o FAHE
EEERRPRITEIEHRT
F BRZFZHEE -

RBEFE  AEEENES
ZHRBEARRABRE 2 R EE
RIEER - ZRRFERNEH
HEREEMHERTIETL ° &
BERENEZFTREEERSE
ERIZARER ©
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32. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
The Company’s existing share option scheme (the
“Scheme”) became effective on 22 October 2002. The
major terms of the Scheme, in conjunction with the
requirements of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules, are set out
as follows:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

The purpose of the Scheme is providing incentives
rewards to full-time employees and consultants of
the Group in recognition of their contribution to the
Group.

Subject to the terms of the Scheme, the directors
may, at their absolute discretion, invite full-time
employees of the Group including executive
directors of the Company or any of its subsidiaries
and consultants (the “Eligible Persons”) to take up
options to subscribe for shares.

The total number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted
and yet to be exercised under the Scheme of the
Company must not exceed 30% of the total issued
share capital of the Company from time to time.

The total number of shares issued and to be issued
on the exercise of options granted and to be
granted (including both exercised and outstanding
options) in any 12-month period up to the date
of grant to each of the Eligible Persons shall not
exceed 1% of the total issued share capital of
the Company in issue unless (i) a shareholders’
circular is dispatched to the shareholders; (ii) the
shareholders approve the grant of the options
in excess of the limit referred to herein; and (iii)
the relevant Eligible Persons and their associates
abstain from voting on the resolution.

An offer of the grant of an option shall be made to
the Eligible Persons by letter in such form as the
board of directors may from time to time determine
and shall remain open for acceptance by the
Eligible Persons concerned for a period of 28 days
from the date upon which it is made, provided that
no such offer shall be open for acceptance after the
10th anniversary of the adoption date or after the
Scheme has been terminated.

32. LBtz ®mIRN
ARR BB B & ([ %18 )
R-TE_F+A-+—HER &t
B XT2HRRERLETHRUFEITE
ZHREHINWT -

(i)

(iii)

(iv)
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KB o
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BHBEARD TR B BTN
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32. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continved)  32. IRt ZRIE#)

(vi) A non-refundable nominal consideration of HK$1 (vi) BERBEBRER  ARAREBH
is payable by the grantee upon acceptance of an 1B TZ2 T TRERHAR
option. An option shall be deemed to have been B MARREEREGERA
accepted when the duplicate letter comprising TIEFNE T 2 5 40 A ok 1
acceptance of the option duly signed by the Eligible BIZ - [ a1 BT E
Persons together with the said consideration of BIREAR #1148 R B R AN -

HK$1 is received by the Company.

(vii) The exercise price for shares under the scheme (vii) #ZEtEI TR Z1TEENHRE
may be determined by the directors at its absolute S2REMBEET  ERE
discretion but in any event will not be less than the fABER T NSRRI &S
highest of: % .

a. the closing price of the shares as stated a. RELBBR(KERE
in the daily quotations sheet of The Stock ¥B)EBBARSAT
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock ERAFIERARER
Exchange”) on the date of grant, which must Fr5I i dn 2 YT (E

be a business day;

b. the average closing price of the shares b. SR H A Ha A E
as stated in daily quotations sheet of the EXABZME AR
Stock Exchange for the five business days BRI KD 2 F13
immediately preceding the date of grant; and WmfE &
e nominal value of shares. c. RIDEE °
Unless otherwise in the terms of the Scheme, an option BRIEZETEIZ KRB ERE - THIE
may be exercised any time during the period commencing A% 4 AT 7 FR BB AR RE AR A B IR N
on the expiry of six calendar months after the date on Bz EABEREREEES
which the option is deemed to be granted and accepted ST RS ERE A 2 B E AR
and expiring on a date to be determined and notified by ABERFTT(E - HEIMEMIB R S TSE
the board of directors to each grantee, but in any event RIZ B B BRI 10F - X
not later than 10 years from the date of grant of option but IR AL -

subject to the early termination of the scheme.
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32. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continved)  32. IRt ZRIE#)

The fair value of the share options granted during the year FAR M 2 BREATE KRR ER
and the share-based payments recognised in income TR AR 9 2 14 3 49 10,200,000 75
statement was approximately HK$10,200,000 (2007: T(ZEZTEF  TEIL) ©

HK$Nil).

(a)  The following table shows the movements in the (a) TERETFARARDRERE
Company’s share options during the year (2007: ZEE -ZEZELF: BB
HK$Nil). JT) °

2008
“BENE
Closing price
Outstanding immediately
Date of Granted during Lapsed during atend before the
grant the year the year of the year date of grant
KRER I A HA
REAH RERRH RERXH RELERTE ZBmE
HK$
&
Directors:
£ N
Lee Yiu Tung TRR 21/8/2007 6,912,000 = 6,912,000 1.09
Ip Wing Lun ik 21/8/2007 6,912,000 — 6,912,000 1.09
Wong Po Ling, TER 21/8/2007 6,912,000 — 6,912,000 1.09
Pauline
Steven Steven 21/8/2007 2,000,000 — 2,000,000 1.09
McManaman McManaman
22,736,000 — 22,736,000
Other employees 7/6/2007 24,000,000 — 24,000,000
Hitfgg 21/8/2007 24,384,000 — 24,384,000 0.49
48,384,000 — 48,384,000 1.09
Consultants
B 21/8/2007 22,000,000 (22,000,000) — 1.09
93,120,000 (22,000,000) 71,120,000
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32. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

(b)

The weighted average exercise price of the share
options granted during the year is HK$0.9646. The
options outstanding at the end of the year have a
weighted average remaining contractual life of 9.34
years.

At the balance sheet date and the date of approval
of these financial statements, the Company had
71,120,000 (2007: Nil) share options outstanding
under the Scheme. The exercise in full of the
remaining share options would, under the present
capital structure of the Company, result in the issue
of 71,120,000 (2007: Nil) additional ordinary shares
of the Company which represented 9.35% (2007:
Nil) of the Company’s shares in issue and as at
those dates, and result in additional share capital
of approximately HK$711,000 (2007: HK$Nil) and
share premium of HK$67,891,000 (before issue
expenses) (2007: HK$NIl).

An independent firm of professional valuers, Asset
Appraisal Limited, was appointed to value the fair
values of share options granted during the year.
The fair value of the share options granted was
estimated on the date of grant using the Black-
Scholes option pricing model with the following key
assumptions:

32. LI Z Mm@

(b)

Share price (HK$) D ERCET)
Exercise price (HK$) 1IEECET)
Dividend yield % B [3] 3R
Volatility RE

Risk-free interest rate
Expected weighted average option lives (in

years) (%)
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R R 2 B IR hn i 715
1T (B 50.964678 7T ° N &
B mARTITE 2B RE M
BEHYF B ENFEHA9.34
i °

REEE B RERT % H%E B
B AR BIRRZE 8 R
111E 2 BE AR # /& 71,120,000
M2 LF: £) BE
RARIREG 2 ERERE - 17
EREER T RERESE R
771,120,000/ (= T & +
FE)BEINRGD EERA
AIRNZEBBHZEBETRG
9.35%(=FTL4F : &) - I
1B % 711,0008 (=2 F
+F  THET) ZBIMNRAK
67,891,000 7t 2 I% 17 = (B
(MBETRIZ(ZEZ £
F:TET) -

B H XL (ERD & ERHER
BRDFERETENFAR
HZ BREATE - RIEZE
BHERAFEAA N — &7
Wil EERARTIER
RENE H B BER-ES

0.49-1.09
0.50-1.126
0.00%
55.35%-61.74%
3.91%-3.92%
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33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries,

which are related parties of the Company, have been

eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed in this

note. Details of transactions between the Group and other

related parties are disclosed below.

(a)

During the prior year, the amount due to a director
was secured by a corporate guarantee provided by
the Company. The corporate guarantee had been
released following the full settlement of the balance
due during the prior year.

Commission of approximately HK$784,000 (2007:
HK$Nil) was charged by a shareholder of the
Company as underwriting commission in connection
with an open offer of the Company during the year
ended 31 March 2008.

Details of the amounts due to directors are set out
in Note 25 to the financial statements.

Included in the Company’s and the Group’s accruals
and other payables as at 31 March 2008 was an
aggregate salaries and other allowances amount of
approximately HK$2,375,000 (2007: HK235,000)
due to directors which is unsecured, interest free
and repayable on demand.

Members of key management during the year
comprised only of the directors whose remuneration
is set out in Note 11 to the financial statements.

33. WEALXRH
ADEREH B AR (KRR 2 S
ADIZRSEREA NRE B -
3 WRAMTERIRTE - AEBEH A
BEA L2 BRI TR -

REF  BNEFFEALR
BRE EREEM - NEF
EHEEENERE - RRHE
REEREE

YN FAAR —BREZH
© B A H784,0008L(=F
THF:THL)  ERHAN
ARRBE_ZTZTENFE=A
=T HLEFERARZEEZ
BHAS -

N EEFEFISH R ER
=MIFE25 °

AR RR RAEEAR =TT
NE=ZA=+—HZEFXK
BREMENRBEZESEA
BRERzH REIBE
#)2,375,000/8 T(Z T Z £
£ : 235,000 7T ) + Jh K
- B RIZER(EE -

FRATEEEERBERRH
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34. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 34. EeMREHE

The Group’s objective of managing capital is to safeguard
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure
to reduce cost of capital.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts,
which includes the amounts due to directors under current
liabilities disclosed in Note 25, cash and cash equivalents
in Note 23 and equity attributable to equity holders of
the Company, comprising share capital and reserves as
disclosed in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity.

The Group’s risk management reviews the capital
structure on a semi-annual basis. As part of this review,
the management considers the cost of capital and the
risks associated with each class of capital. The Group
has a target gearing ratio of 20 — 40% determined
as the proportion of net debt to equity. Based on the
management’s recommendations, the Group expects to
increase its gearing ratio closer to 30% through the issue
of new debts and the payment of dividends.

The gearing ratios at the balance sheet dates are as

follows:

Current debts mENEIE

Cash and cash equivalents ReRkReEBEEE
Net debts BB FE

Equity W #n

Net debt to equity ratio

BRI REER 2 X

AEEEEESZBNARELAEHE
ZIFBSERE S - AR IR 0
KAEMNmBEEREN S Wi
FEBZERRE  LWRIEEARK
& o

AEBzEARRBRBER(BREME
BERBINABEEZERNERR
B) MEBzREeRREFER
B ARARRBRESE ARGEDS
(BRENGEREZEHREEZRA
R fERE) K

REBEYFRNEREBUEER
%o BRI Z—8  BEEEZRE
BARKAR R EEEEAEE 2R
REEZBEBREANERELER20%
Z 40% + JHIR(ETEF FE B e 2 th
BT REEEEZEZ A5EE
HFERBTHEERZARE - LAE
MNEXRE FELLEEEREEIT30% ©

REERAZERBRLEMT :

2008 2007
ZEENE —TELF
HK$’000 HK$'000
Fi# FHET
10,583 —
(7,055) (6,757)
3,528 (6,757)
12,646 (55)

28% N/A i
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

During the year, exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate

and currency risks arises in the normal course of the

Group’s business. The Group is also exposed to equity

price risk arising from its equity investments in other

entities.

These risks are limited by the Group’s financial

management policies and practices described below.

(a)

Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to
its trade and other receivables and investment in
listed securities. Management has a credit policy
in place and the exposures to these credit risks are
monitored on an ongoing basis.

In respect of trade and other receivables, individual
credit evaluations are performed on all customers
requiring credit over a certain amount. These
evaluations focus on the customers’ past history of
making payments when due and current ability to
pay, and take into account information specific to
the customers as well as pertaining to the economic
environment in which the customers operate.
Normally, the Group does not obtain collateral from

customers.

Investments normally comprise only liquid securities
quoted on a recognised stock exchange, except
when the investment is made for long term strategic
purposes. Given their high credit standing,
management does not expect any investment
counterparty to fail to meet its obligations.

35. £REEER
FR - AEERBEEBBRELEZ
FTERKRAFEERR RBELR
% F=E e R EER R o ANEE IR
AEREMERE 2 RAREELERE

e

HERBRE T XAtz AR BB E
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(a)
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)

(a)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced
mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer. The default risk of the industry and
country in which customers operate also has an
influence on credit risk but to a lesser extent. At the
balance sheet date, the Group has a concentration
of credit risk as 100% and 100% of the total
trade receivables was due from the Group’s
largest customer and the five largest customers
respectively.

The maximum exposure to credit risk without taking
account of any collateral held is represented by the
carrying amount of each financial asset.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the
Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from trade
receivables are set out in Note 22 to the financial
statements.

Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group
are responsible for their own cash management,
including the short term investment of cash
surpluses and the raising of loans to cover
expected cash demands, subject to approval by the
Company’s board of directors when the borrowings
exceed certain predetermined levels of authority.
The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity
requirements and its compliance with lending
covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient
reserves of cash and adequate committed lines of
funding from major financial institutions to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

Among other measures undertaken by the
management in respect of managing the liquidity
risk, the Company is in the progress of raising
additional working capital by way of issuing the
convertible notes with a principal amount of
HK$200,000,000, details of which are set out in
Note 37 to the financial statements.

Interest rate risk

The Group has no significant interest-bearing
financial liabilities, and the Group’s income and
operating cash flows are substantially independent
of changes in market interest rate.

Currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily
through its investment in quoted equity securities
in BCP with a carrying value of approximately
HK$134,364,000 (2007: HK$Nil) as at 31 March
2008 that are denominated in Pound Sterling (“£”),
which was acquired during the current year.

Sensitivity analysis
At 31 March 2008,
appreciation/depreciation of 1% in exchange rate

it is estimated that a general

of HK$ to £, with all other variables held constant,
would increase/decrease the Group’s consolidated
loss and decrease/increase its consolidated equity
by approximately HK$1,344,000 (2007: HK$Nil).

35. 2REREER®)

(b)

(c)

(d)

REESRE(E)
\,\1@Afiﬁ’fb)§@um@§
[\ Bex T BRER 2 B An 4 pE AR
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BEEEIINEEED B
BB TSR 5 37 o

F 2 B3
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}L

%Q°

HEERE
AEBT2EBENBCPZ
LR AE %Z&é%iﬁ

BRKR R=ZZZN\F=A
=+—H  ZREZEAELD
134,364,000/ T(ZZE =
+F:THT)  ARE(E
EDAREMN TRAFEERE
]K °

HBEDHT

RZZENF=A=+—H -
BB AR S E R BB THE
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)

(d)

(e)

Currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

The sensitivity analysis has been determined
assuming that the change in foreign exchange
rates had occurred at the balance sheet date and
had been applied to each of the group entities;
exposure to currency risk for financial instruments in
existence at that date, and that all other variables,
in particular equity price, remain constant.

The stated changes represent management’s
assessment of reasonably possible changes in
foreign exchange rates over the period until the next
annual balance sheet date. Results of the analysis
as presented above represent an aggregation of
the effects on each of the group entities’ equity
measured in the respective functional currencies,
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange
rate ruling at the balance sheet date for presentation
purposes. The analysis is performed on the same
basis for 2007, where applicable.

Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price changes
arising from equity instruments classified
as available-for-sale financial assets. These
investments are listed.

The Group’s listed investments are listed on the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong and AIM. Decisions
to buy and sell trading securities are based on
daily monitoring of the performance of individual
securities compared to that of the indexes and other
industry indicators, as well as the Group’s liquidity
needs. Listed investments held in the available-
for-sale portfolio have been chosen based on their
longer term growth potential and are monitored
regularly for performance against expectations.
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)

(e)

(f)

Equity price risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis

At 31 March 2008,
increase/decrease of 5% in the quoted market price
of the equity investments, with all other variables
held constant, would decrease/increase the Group’s
consolidated loss and increase/decrease its
consolidated equity by approximately HK$6,718,000
(2007: HKS$Nil).

it is estimated that a general

The sensitivity analysis has been determined
assuming that the reasonably possible changes
in the stock market index or other relevant risk
variables had occurred at the balance sheet date
and had been applied to the exposure to equity
price risk in existence at that date.
assumed that the fair value of the Group’s equity
investments would change in accordance with the
historical correlation with the relevant stock market
index or the relevant risk variables and that all other
The stated changes
represent management’s assessment of reasonably
possible changes in the relevant stock market index
or the relevant risk variables over the period until
the next annual balance sheet date. The analysis is
performed on the same basis for 2007.

It is also

variables remain constant.

Fair values and estimation basis

All financial instruments are carried at amounts not
materially different from their values as at 31 March
2008 and 2007.
fair value is based on quoted market prices at

In respect of equity securities,

the balance sheet date without any deduction for
transaction costs.
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36. FINANCIAL ASSETS AND 36. tRIEERAR
LIABILITIES
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and rEEzeREERBERZZZEN
liabilities as recognised at 31 March 2008 and 2007 may FRZZETLF=ZRA=FT—HERZ
be categorised as follows: FREEAENT :
2008 2007
—EBNE —TTiE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Financial assets SREE
Loans and receivables (including cash and ERRERRE(BERE R
bank balances) RITHEER) 8,698 14,205
Available-for-sale financial assets AN ESREE 134,364 —
Financial liabilities SMARE
Financial liabilities measured at amortised REHEK AT EZERBE
cost 114,153 3,066
37. SIGNIFICANT POST BALANCE 37. BHHEFEHAESHR
SHEET NON-ADJUSTING EVENT
The Company entered into subscription agreement ARalp R N\NFEFRA LA
dated 7 May 2008 and supplemental agreement dated 4 X ZZFZ)\F X AN A & Pacific
June 2008 with Pacific Capital Investment Management Capital Investment Management
Limited to issue convertible notes by the Company for an Limiteds] 32 R & 1 & & # 7 1
aggregate principal amount of HK$200,000,000 which HFCOUNBARABTAE LE
was approved as an ordinary resolution passed at the 200,000,0007‘%?527?‘%&%%?? B
extraordinary general meeting of the Company on 7 July TABRBREBRERARRARIR=ZZZN
2008. The convertible notes are repayable at the third itﬂtﬁﬁ%ﬁZHxi%BUK@LM
anniversary after its issuance. Further details are set out in TRARRBBIOE - ATRKREERA
the Company’s circular and announcement dated 20 June EAE?‘?T&% BEER - E—F5F
2008 and 7 July 2008, respectively. BENARADRR_EZENFEASA
_+ H &_2@5/\¢tﬂ +RFIEZ
RAMA o
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Rt 35 8 &= B 6

31 March 2008
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38. COMMITMENT
As at 31 March 2007 and 2008, the Company and the
Group did not have any capital commitment.

39. COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative figures have been re-classified to
conform with current year’s presentation.

38.

39.

3
RZZEZLFR_ZTZNF=A
=+—H  ARARRAEELEEM
BANEHE -

4 3 b2
ETUBBTRESHHE UG
AEEZ2IHR -
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Five Years Financial Summary

LFEMBERE

31 March 2008
—ETN\F=ZA=F+—H

Results E§

Turnover |

(Loss)/profit before BRI (E1E)

taxation i Al
Taxation A
(Loss)/profit before B DB R M 2R AT
minority interests (&), & F
Attributable to equity AT RERFE A
holders of the fE1h
Company
Minority interests DERR R e
(Loss)/profit attributable  ZX2A A J& A A
to equity holders of ek (E18),/
the Company i Al

Assets and liabilities FER & &

Total assets BERE

Total liabilities BERE

Minority interests DR

Total equity attributable 7K/ 45 A A
to equity holders of FE (B R 2%

the Company

For the year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—HLEE

2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
ZEE)\E —TRELF —TTRF —TTRF —ZTF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
20,595 42,813 43,428 101,974 119,410
(151,715) (11,050) (59,607) 11,174 29,016
(418) — (20,003) (1,293) (781)
(152,133) (11,050) (79,610) 9,881 28,235
(152,133) (11,050) (79,610) 9,881 28,235
—_ — — (7,721) (4,738)
(152,133) (11,050) (79,610) 2,160 23,497
2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
ZEENF —ETHF —TERF —TTRF —TENEF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FHET FHET FHET
147,381 23,175 41,424 99,573 99,170
(134,735) (23,230) (38,173) (14,450) (9,228)
— — — (2,262) (9,240)
12,646 (55) 8,201 82,861 80,702
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